

https://theses.gla.ac.uk/

Theses Digitisation:

https://www.gla.ac.uk/myglasgow/research/enlighten/theses/digitisation/

This is a digitised version of the original print thesis.

Copyright and moral rights for this work are retained by the author

A copy can be downloaded for personal non-commercial research or study, without prior permission or charge

This work cannot be reproduced or quoted extensively from without first obtaining permission in writing from the author

The content must not be changed in any way or sold commercially in any format or medium without the formal permission of the author

When referring to this work, full bibliographic details including the author, title, awarding institution and date of the thesis must be given

Enlighten: Theses <u>https://theses.gla.ac.uk/</u> research-enlighten@glasgow.ac.uk

NUTRITIONAL AND METABOLIC STUDIES IN TERM

AND PRETERM INFANTS

JAMES STEWART FORSYTH

MB, FRCP, DCH, DObst(RCOG)

DEPARTMENT OF CHILD HEALTH, NINEWELLS HOSPITAL AND MEDICAL SCHOOL, DUNDEE

THESIS SUBMITTED FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF MEDICINE

UNIVERSITY OF GLASGOW

MARCH 1992

ProQuest Number: 13815366

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



ProQuest 13815366

Published by ProQuest LLC (2018). Copyright of the Dissertation is held by the Author.

All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC.

> ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 – 1346



CONTENTS

PAGE

Title Page	1
Contents	2
List of tables	6
List of figures and photographs	10
Declaration and Acknowledgements	11
Summary	13

CHAPTER

1.	General Introduction.	22
2.	Measurement of energy expenditure and nutrient utilisation in ventilator-dependent low birthweight infants.	25
3.	Investigation of the aetiology of breast milk jaundice.	59
4.	Is early solid feeding harmful to the infant?	82
5.	Final Conclusions.	113
	References	116
	Appendices	130

3

CHAPTER ONE

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

CHAPTER TWO

MEASUREMENT OF ENERGY EXPENDITURE AND NUTRIENT UTILISATION IN VENTILATOR-DEPENDENT LOW BIRTHWEIGHT INFANTS.

2.1 Background to the study.

25

,

2.2	Development	of a computerised indirect
	calorimetry	system for measurement of energy
	expenditure	in ventilator-dependent low
	birthweight	infants.

2.2.i	The Indirect Calorimetry System.	29
2.2.ii	Technical evaluation.	31
2.2.iii	Clinical evaluation.	42
2.2.iv	Discussion.	47

2.3	<u>Measurement of energy expenditure, respiratory</u>
	quotient and carbon dioxide production in
	ventilated and spontaneously breathing low
	birthweight infants during the first week of
	life.

Introduction	52
Patients	53
Results	53
Discussion	56
	Introduction Patients Results Discussion

2.4	<u>Conclusions</u>	58

CHAPTER THREE

INVESTIGATION OF THE AETIOLOGY OF BREAST MILK JAUNDICE.

3.1 Back	ground to the studies.	59
3.2 <u>Stud</u> bile	y of breast milk for the presence of salts.	
3.2.i	Subjects and Materials.	62
3.2.ii	Method.	62
3.2.iii	Results.	63
3.2.iv	Discussion.	65
3.3 <u>Stud</u> bile <u>acid</u> infa	y of the relationship between bile salts, -salt stimulated lipase, and free fatty s in breast milk of normal infants and nts with breast milk jaundice.	
3.3.i	Introduction.	67
3.3.ii	Patients.	67
3.3.iii	Methods.	68
3.3.iv	Results.	72
3.3.v	Discussion.	77

3.4	<u>Conclusions</u>	81

CHAPTER FOUR

IS EARLY SOLID FEEDING HARMFUL TO THE INFANT?

4.1	Backgi	round to the study.	82
4.2	<u>Study</u> is hai	to determine if early solid feeding	
4.2.i		Subjects	84
4.2.i	.i	Methods.	84
4.2.i	.ii	Results.	89
4.2.i	.v	Discussion.	106
4.3	<u>Conclu</u>	isions	111

CHAPTER FIVE

13
L

LIST OF TABLES

TABLE				
1.	Gas infusion studies.	41		
2.	Clinical studies - ventilated infant.	44		
3.	Energy expenditure (EE) and respiratory			
	quotient (RQ) of ventilated and			
	spontaneous breathing very low			
	birthweight infants during days 1-6.	54		
4.	Concentration of bile salts in serum,			
	colostrum and breast milk.	64		
5.	Median cholate and chenodeoxycholate			
	concentrations, BSSL activity, and free			
	fatty acid concentration in breast milk			
	at 2, 6, 10, and 14 weeks.	74		
6.	Median cholate and chenodeoxycholate			
	concentration, BSSL activity, and free fatty			
	acid concentration in breast milk taken			
	from 12 mothers at 2, 6, 10, and 14 weeks.	75		

		PAGE
7.	Median cholate and chenodeoxycholate	
	concentrations, BSSL activity, and free	
	fatty acid concentrations in breast milk	
	of normal infants and infants with breast	
	milk jaundice.	76
8.	Relationship of time of introduction of	
	solids to sex of infant and social class.	94
9.	Relationship of time of introduction of	
	solids to type of milk feed.	95
10.	Relationship of type of infant formula to	
	timing of introduction of solids.	96
11.	Relationship of introduction of solids and	
	type of infant formula to birth weight.	97
12.	Relationship of weight (g) of infants	
	during first 2 years of life to age of	
	introduction of solids.	98
13.	Relationship of weight (g) of 392 infants	
	measured at each of the time periods	
	during the first 2 years of life to age	
	of introduction of solids.	99

		PAGE
14.	Numbers (percentages and adjusted	
	percentages) of infants with	
	gastrointestinal illness according to age	
	of introduction of solids.	100
15.	Numbers (percentages and adjusted	
	percentages) of infants with	
	respiratory illness according to age	
	of introduction of solids.	101
16.	Numbers (percentages and adjusted	
	percentages) of infants with	
	persistent cough according to age	
	of introduction of solids.	102
17.	Numbers (percentages and adjusted	
	percentages) of infants with wheeze	
	according to age of introduction of	
	solids.	103
18.	Numbers (percentages and adjusted	
	percentages) of infants with napkin	
	dermatitis according to age of	
	introduction of solids.	104

19. Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants with eczema according to age of introduction of solids.

PAGE

LIST OF FIGURES AND PHOTOGRAPHS

Figure

1.	Schematic flow diagram of indirect							
	calorimetry for ventilator dependent							
	infants	30						
2.	Print-out of calorimetry data	33						
Phot	tographs							
1.	The indirect calorimetry system-							
	the ventilated infant	32						
2.	The indirect calorimetry system-							
	the canopy method	46						
3.	The premature post-operative infant-							
	What is the energy expenditure and							
	nutrient utilisation? 55							

DECLARATION AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Although all of the studies described in this Thesis were conceived and initiated by myself, I am greatly indebted to a number of individuals whose invaluable practical and theoretical support enabled me to complete these studies.

During the development of the computerised indirect calorimetry system I was extremely grateful for the technical assistance I received from Mr David Avery, Technical Director of Airspec (UK), (now Chest Scientific Instruments Ltd) from whom I purchased the mass spectrometer and who, under my guidance, wrote the appropriate software. I am grateful to Mrs Anna Crichton, Research Nurse, who provided me with practical support during the technical and clinical evaluation of the calorimetry system.

During the studies of Breast Milk Jaundice I was indebted to Dr Peter Ross for his knowledge of bile salt metabolism and laboratory expertise. Dr Louise Donnet was involved in recruiting the mothers to the study and undertook the majority of the laboratory assays.

The study of the effect of early solid feeding on infant health was undertaken in parallel with other studies of Infant Feeding and Health, in which I collaborated with Professor Peter Howie. The early solid feeding study was conceived, initiated and supervised by myself. I am indebted to the many Health Visitors who contributed to this study and in particular to Mrs Ann Clark who coordinated the data collection. I am also grateful to Professor Charles Florey and Dr Simon Ogston for statistical assistance.

I am grateful to Professor Richard Olver for acting as my advisor to this Thesis and to Mrs Irene Gray for her considerable secretarial assistance.

Much of the work reported in this Thesis was supported by grant awarding bodies and I am grateful to the Scottish Home and Health Department, Scottish Hospitals Endowment Research Trust, The Gannochy Trust and Cow and Gate Ltd.

NUTRITIONAL AND METABOLIC STUDIES IN TERM AND PRETERM INFANTS.

SUMMARY

The nutritional management of the newborn infant continues to be plagued by fundamental issues which are the subject of much confusion and contradiction. There is not only an urgent need to clarify these issues, but also a need to widen our knowledge and understanding of many aspects of infant nutrition especially that relating to the preterm infant.

This Thesis considers nutritional issues in both term and preterm infants. The issues addressed in the term infant are first, the aetiology of the condition breast milk jaundice, and second, whether the practice of early solid feeding is harmful to the infant. The studies in the preterm infant are aimed at providing nutritional data on the sick ventilated infant.

MEASUREMENT OF ENERGY EXPENDITURE AND NUTRIENT UTILISATION IN VENTILATOR-DEPENDENT VERY LOW BIRTHWEIGHT INFANTS.

With neurodevelopmental outcome of very low birth weight infants being adversly affected by inadequate nutrition during the first few weeks of life, there is an urgent need for more specific nutritional data on the sick VLBW ventilator-dependent infant. To date there is no calorimetry data on these infants because of technical difficulties relating to the practice of using continuous flow ventilators for neonatal ventilation. With differences in gas concentrations between inspiratory and expiratory circuits being so small, a system of considerable accuracy and precision is required.

<u>STUDY 1</u> <u>Development of a computerised indirect</u> <u>calorimetry system for measurement of energy expenditure</u> in ventilator-dependent low birthweight infants.

The development of a new mass spectrometric gas analysis indirect calorimetry system which is non-invasive and can operate over several hours or days is described. The system, which is computer driven, consists of a respiratory mass spectrometer, a mesh pneumotachometer with differential pressure transducer, a 3-way elecromagnetic valve, and minor modifications to normal ventilator circuitry. The data from the mass spectrometer and the pneumotachometer are received by the microcomputer and oxygen consumption (VO₂), carbon dioxide production (VCO₂), respiratory quotient (RQ) and energy expenditure (EE) are calculated using the Weir equations.

Technical evaluation of each of the components of the

system indicates a total random error of <5%. Systematic error was determined using gas infusions which simulated carbon dioxide production and oxygen consumption. The relative error in the measurement of carbon dioxide production was <1.5% (CV 6.0%), and oxygen consumption <4.3% (CV 2.3%).

Clinical studies on 10 infants demonstrated a mean energy expenditure of 40.2 kcal/kg/day and a respiratory quotient in excess of 1.0.

CONCLUSION

A system for measuring energy expenditure in sick ventilated low birthweight infants has been developed and technical evaluation confirms that the system is precise and accurate. Clinical evaluation shows that continuous measurements can be made without interfering with the normal care of the infant. The energy expenditure of ventilated low birthweight infants may be less than previously indicated and the ratio of carbohydrate to fat and nitrogen content of parenteral nutrition regimen recommended for these infants may be inappropriate.

<u>STUDY 2</u> <u>Measurement of energy expenditure, oxygen</u> <u>consumption, carbon dioxide production and respiratory</u> <u>quotient in ventilated and non-ventilated preterm infants</u> <u>during the first 6 days of life</u>.

Using the newly developed and evaluated calorimetry system, infants of birthweight less than 2000g were studied during the first week of life. Twelve of these infants were receiving artificial ventilation and 10 were breathing air spontaneously. All were receiving total parenteral nutrition.

On days 1-2, 3-4, and 5-6 there was no difference in energy expenditure between the two groups, but both groups demonstrated a trend of increasing energy expenditure during this time. The respiratory quotient was greater than 1.0 in both groups of infants.

CONCLUSION

The energy expenditure of ventilated infants during the first week of life is not greater than that of spontaneously breathing infants and may be much less if paralysing agents are prescribed. This has important implications for the nutritional management of these infants. With present regimens there is evidence of excess carbohydrate intake being converted to fat and this increases carbon dioxide production. Modification of parenteral nutrition regimens may not only improve nutrient accretion rates but also reduce ventilator requirements of the infant.

INVESTIGATION OF THE AETIOLOGY OF BREAST MILK JAUNDICE

The aetiology of breast milk jaundice, an unconjugated hyperbilirubinaemia occurring in approximately 2-4% of breast fed infants, remains uncertain. It has been suggested that elevated free fatty acid concentrations within the breast milk inhibit hepatic glucuronyl transferase activity and their presence is the consequence of the activity of an abnormal lipase which has the chemical characteristics of bile salt-stimulated lipase but does not require prior stimulation by bile salts. For this conclusion to be drawn it was assumed that bile salts were not present in breast milk. There being no studies to support this assumption an investigation of breast milk for the presence of bile salts was undertaken.

STUDY 1. Study of breast milk for the presence of bile salts

Analysis of 28 random samples of breast milk demonstrated that small concentrations of cholate and chenodeoxycholate

were present in milk and with the ratios differing from that present in maternal blood, active transport mechanisms may be involved. A further study was performed to provide longitudinal data on bile salts in breast milk and their relationship to bile salt stimulated lipase (BSSL) in normal and jaundice milks.

STUDY 2. A study of the relationship between bile salts, bile salt-stimulated lipase and free fatty acids in breast milk of normal infants and those with breast milk jaundice.

Analysis of milk samples obtained at different times during lactation showed that there was a significant decline in both cholate and chenodeoxycholate levels with duration of lactation (p<0.05). There was also a significant fall in BSSL activity (p<0.05) but no correlation was found between BSSL activity and bile salt concentration. FFA concentrations were similar throughout lactation and were not related to either BSSL activity or bile salt concentration. There was a significant increase in the concentration of cholate and the cholate to chenodeoxycholate ratio in the milks of 12 infants with breast milk jaundice compared to normal milks, the BSSL activity was similar and contrary to previous reports, the FFA concentration was not increased in the milks of infants with breast milk jaundice.

CONCLUSION

This study does not support previous reports of increased lipase activity and increased free fatty acid concentration in breast milk of infants with breast milk jaundice. Further original data on the presence of bile salts in breast milk is reported and their relationship to the wide variation in free fatty acid composition of both normal and jaundiced milks requires further investigation.

A STUDY TO DETERMINE IF EARLY SOLID FEEDING IS HARMFUL TO THE INFANT.

Despite the professional advice that solid foods should not be introduced before 3 months of age the OPCS survey of 1980 showed that 56% of infants were introduced to solids before this time and the proportion increased to 62% when the survey was repeated in 1985. The reasons put forward for discouraging the premature introduction of solids include the possible risk of excessive weight gain, vulnerability of the gut to infection, and increased susceptibility to the development of allergic disease.

A prospective clinical study was undertaken to determine the influence of the early introduction of solid foods on weight gain, the risk of gastro-intestinal disease and the risk of allergic disorders during the first 2 years of life. Special consideration was given to design and

methodology, in particular, sample size, accuracy of feeding data, definition of outcomes, data collection and potential confounding variables.

In this study 9.7% of infants were commenced on solids before 8 weeks and 49.4% between 8 and 12 weeks of age. Solids were introduced earlier in infants who were male, who were from lower socio-economic groups and who were bottle fed. After adjustment for confounding variables the introduction of solids before 13 weeks of age was associated with increased weight gain in infants at 8, 13 26 and 52 weeks but not at 104 weeks.

Before and after adjustments for confounding factors, the incidence of gastro-intestinal infection was not influenced by the timing of the introduction of solids. Similarly, the early introduction of solids was not associated with an increased incidence of napkin dermatitis or wheeze. The incidence of eczema was increased at two years in infants who received solids between 8-12 weeks. There was increased incidence of respiratory illness at 14-26 weeks, and persistent cough at 14-26 and 27-39 weeks in early solid feeding infants.

CONCLUSION

This study concludes that many infants are receiving solids within the first three months of life but this

feeding practice is not associated with excessive weight gain or increased gastrointestinal illness. With the incidence of eczema being increased in the 8-12 week solid feeding group but not in infants receiving solids prior to this time, the association between early solid feeding and eczema remains inconclusive. Further follow-up may clarify this issue. The incidence of respiratory illness was increased during the first year of life in early solid feeding infants. Whether these symptoms are infective or allergic in origin cannot be answered by this study, but as the prevalence of asthma and other allergic disorders peak in later childhood, longer term follow-up of this cohort may clarify this issue. In the meantime, if parents wish to commence their infants on solid foods before three months of age they should be advised that there is an increased incidence of respiratory illness in early solid feeding infants.

CHAPTER ONE

GENERAL INTRODUCTION

As we approach the end of the twentieth century, it is remarkable that infant nutrition, one of the most vital ingredients for the continuation of human life, should continue to present so many unanswerable questions and require to be the subject of so much medical and scientific attention. Interest in infant nutrition has spanned many centuries with advocacy for the practice of breast feeding being recorded in several historical and religious texts including the Koran and the writings of In his presentation to the Royal Society of Hippocrates. Medicine in 1911¹, Dr David Forsyth, a London physician, provided a remarkable insight into infant nutrition during Elizabethan Times and discussed many of the infant feeding issues which continue to provoke debate today, notably the benefits of breast feeding, the safety of artificial feeds and the timing of weaning.

Why these issues remain unresolved today is not due to a lack of scientific interest which has been considerable, with many contributions being made by scientists, clinicians, psychologists, and sociologists. These publications have undoubtedly greatly extended our knowledge and understanding of infant nutrition but unfortunately have also tended to raise further questions rather than provide unequivocal answers.

A reinforcement of the need for continuing scientific interest in infant nutrition has been provided by recent intriguing data from two separate centres. Lucas and coworkers in Cambridge, in a prospective clinical trial of neonatal diet on later brain development, demonstrated that a brief period of enhanced diet, had a significant impact on developmental quotient in infancy, and this advantage was still evident when the children were reassessed at 18 months and 4 years^{2,3}. Barker and coworkers in Southampton have produced epidemiological data demonstrating that fetal and infant growth are strong predictors of later blood lipids, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, chronic bronchitis, and diabetes^{4,5}. The data evolving from these centres strongly support the concept that early nutrition and growth are powerful determinants of later intellect and health.

Current research on infant nutrition can be divided into two principal areas of interest; studies which are attempting to resolve fundamental issues in the nutritional management of term infants, and studies which are aimed at increasing our knowledge and understanding of nutritional metabolism of the preterm infant. Both of these aspects of research of infant nutrition are

represented in this Thesis. The issues addressed in the term infant are first, the aetiology of the condition breast milk jaundice, and second, the question of whether the practice of early solid feeding is harmful to the infant. The studies in the preterm infant are aimed at providing much needed nutritional data on the sick ventilator-dependent infant.

CHAPTER TWO

MEASUREMENT OF ENERGY EXPENDITURE AND NUTRIENT UTILISATION IN VENTILATOR-DEPENDENT LOW BIRTHWEIGHT INFANTS.

2.1 BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY

Nearly 1% of all infants have a birth weight of less than 1500 g⁶. Although, in recent years, the mortality of this group has greatly diminished, there is still significant morbidity⁷. More than 60% of these very low birth weight (VLBW) babies suffer from respiratory distress syndrome and require artificial ventilation 8 , the duration of which can be prolonged if the infant develops chronic lung disease. Attempts to reduce morbidity in this group of infants have concentrated on achieving improved cardiorespiratory function and haemodynamic stability during the immediate postnatal period⁹. However, recent human and animal studies have indicated that inadequate nutrition during this time may be a A multicentre further potential contributing factor. study has shown that preterm infants receiving a special low birthweight milk formula achieved significantly better developmental scores than controls at 18 months^{2,3}. This study was undertaken on infants who were sufficiently well to tolerate enteral feeds. The special feed was only given for a median period of 28 days and the fact that

such a short period of enhanced nutritional support in a relatively low risk population can have such dramatic effects on neurodevelopment raises the question of whether more vigorous nutritional support during the period when these infants are most sick and requiring ventilation will result in a further improvement of neurodevelopmental scores. It is during this time that nutritional support is most difficult and growth failure most marked¹⁰.

Recent animal studies have demonstrated that if nutrition is suboptimal, normal lung growth is impaired and recovery from inflammatory damage delayed¹¹. Therefore, improved nutrition may not only reduce neurodevelopmental morbidity but also improve respiratory status thus allowing a shorter period of ventilation and earlier introduction of enteral feeds for these vulnerable infants.

To date, interest in the nutritional status and management of the VLBW baby has concentrated on healthy growing infants, their energy expenditure and nutritional balance being estimated while receiving different feeding regimes¹². Indirect calorimetry has been the method of choice as it is practical and accurate for the spontaneously breathing infant. This method provides an estimate of oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide production from which the energy expenditure and respiratory quotient (RQ) can be calculated¹³. If simultaneous measurement of urinary nitrogen is made, fat, carbohydrate, and protein utilisation can be calculated¹⁴. From these studies on healthy premature infants it has been suggested that the total energy intake for enterally fed infants should be in the region of 110-160 kcals/kg/day,¹⁵ and 60-80 kcals/kg/day for infants receiving parenteral nutrition¹⁶.

It cannot be assumed that this data is meaningful for the sick ventilator-dependent infant. The overall work of breathing in these infants will be influenced by the contribution of ventilator support, the frequency of spontaneous respirations and the compliance of the lungs. In adults, oxygen consumption is increased in trauma and sepsis¹⁷, both of which are frequently present in sick infants. In healthy premature infants 15-20% of energy expenditure may be due to spontaneous activity¹⁵ and this is likely to be reduced in the sick and the more premature infant. The overall effect of all of these factors on total energy expenditure in sick ventilated infants is at present unknown.

The lack of calorimetry data on sick ventilator-dependent infants is primarily related to the practice of using continuous flow ventilators for neonatal ventilation. These ventilators provide a continuous flow of oxygenated air across the proximal end of the endotracheal tube thus, allowing the inhalation of fresh gas if spontaneous respirations are present. With the continuous gas flows being in the region of 6-8 l/min, and the volumes of oxygen consumed and carbon dioxide produced by the infant being only several mls/min, measurement of differences in gas concentrations between inspiratory and expiratory circuits requires a system of considerable accuracy and precision, particularly if the inspiratory oxygen concentration is high. An additional requirement of such a system is the ability to operate over several hours and to allow routine medical and nursing care of the infant to continue unhindered.

These criteria have been taken into consideration during the development of a indirect calorimetry system designed for use in ventilator-dependent infants.

2.2 DEVELOPMENT OF A COMPUTERISED INDIRECT CALORIMETRY SYSTEM FOR MEASUREMENT OF ENERGY EXPENDITURE IN VENTILATOR-DEPENDENT LOW BIRTHWEIGHT INFANTS

2.2.i The Indirect Calorimetry System

The system, which is computer driven, consists of a respiratory mass spectrometer, a mesh pneumotachometer with differential pressure transducer, a 3-way electromagnetic valve, and minor modifications to normal ventilator circuitry (Fig 1). The principle is similar to previously reported open circuit techniques in that samples of gas are drawn from the inspiratory and expiratory circuits and the oxygen consumption and carbon dioxide production are calculated from the product of the volume of the gas passing through the ventilator circuit and the changes in oxygen and carbon dioxide occurring between the two circuits. The data from the mass spectrometer and the pneumotachometer are received by the microcomputer and oxygen consumption (VO2), carbon dioxide production (VCO₂), respiratory quotient (RQ) and energy expenditure (EE) are calculated using the Weir equations.¹³

> VO2 ml/min = Ve ml/min (FiO2 - FeO2) VCO2 ml/min = Ve ml/min (FeCO2 - FiCO2) Energy Expenditure = 3.9 VO2 + 1.1 VCO2 (kcal/kg/min)



FIGURE 1

•

SCHEMATIC FLOW DIAGRAM OF INDIRECT CALORIMETRY FOR VENTILATOR-DEPENDENT INFANTS

Each of the measured parameters is graphically displayed in real time on the computer screen (Photograph 1), stored in a data file and can be continuously printed (Fig 2). If urine is collected during the study, this enables the measurement of urinary nitrogen which will allow the determination of the non-protein RQ, fat, carbohydrate and protein utilisation¹⁴, and additional nutritional parameters, which can be calculated by the dedicated software.

2.2.ii Technical Evaluation

The evaluation of the system was first approached by determining the errors of each of the components of the system. The calculations stated above include three measured values: the volume of gas flow, and the concentrations of oxygen and carbon dioxide in the inspiratory and expiratory circuits. The minimum expected error was therefore the sum of the errors sustained in obtaining these specific measurements. Other potential areas of error were the gas sampling process and the effects of varying pressure, humidity and temperature within the ventilator circuitry. It was also recognised that without a perfect "gold standard" against which the the system could be compared, a component of the systematic error could be due to error in measurement of

INDIRECT CALORIMETRY SYSTEM



Real-Time Graphic Display



GRAPHIC DISPLAY

TIME	Fi02	FiCO2	Fe02	FeCO2	Ve	V02	VCO2	RQ	Energy	
9.22	22.71	0.03	22.61	0.12	6.74	6.13	5.33	0.87	42.85	1
9.24	22.68	0.03	22.57	0.13	6.77	7.08	6.53	0.92	50.12	
9.26	22.67	0.03	22.58	0.10	6.78	5.41	4.39	0.81	37.34	
9.27	22.67	0.03	22.58	0.11	6.77	5.73	5.15	0.90	40.37	
9.29	22.67	0.03	22.59	0.12	6.80	5.16	5.32	1.03	37.39	
9.31	22.67	0.03	22.57	0.11	6.78	6.56	4.69	0.71	44.26	
9.32	22.67	0.03	22.59	0.09	6.78	4.91	3.68	0.75	33.41	
9.34	22.68	0.03	22.59	0.09	6.80	5.72	3.92	0.69	38.30	
9.36	22.68	0.03	22.58	0.11	6.81	6.14	5.05	0.82	42.48	
9.37	22.68	0.03	22.59	0.11	6.79	5.42	5.22	0.96	38.69	
9.39	22.68	0.03	22.59	0.11	6.79	5.86	4.81	0.82	40.54	
9.41	22.69	0.03	22.61	0.10	6.81	5.36	4.33	0.81	36.99	
9.42	22.70	0.03	22.61	0.10	6.81	5.55	4.50	0.81	38.29	
9.44	22.71	0.03	22.63	0.11	6.82	5.41	5.04	0.93	38.39	
9.46	22.72	0.03	22.63	0.10	6.79	5.21	4.13	0.79	35.80	
9.47	22.72	0.03	22.64	0.10	6.79	5.09	4.05	0.80	34.99	
9.49	22.72	0.03	22.63	0.11	6.76	5.66	5.11	0.90	39.85	
9.51	22.73	0.03	22.62	0.13	6.77	6.95	5.91	0.85	48.40	
9.52	22.74	0.03	22.64	0.12	6.87	6.40	5.45	0.85	44.58	
9.54	22.74	0.03	22.65	0.10	6.86	5.81	4.62	0.80	39.92	

or PgUp Pgdown:"T"ag or "U"ntag for lines to delete: ESC to Exit

FIGURE 2

PRINT-OUT OF CALORIMETRY DATA

. -
the "gold standard" - in this case gas infusion studies - rather than the calorimetry system.

Infant ventilator

The infants were ventilated with a continuous flow, timecycled infant ventilator (Sechrist Model IV-100B). Depending on the compressible volume of the circuit and the humidifier, a flow rate of 6-8 litres/minute is usually required to achieve adequate peak pressure and Initial analyses of gases sampled pressure rise time. from the inspiratory and expiratory circuits demonstrated that there was contamination of the gas samples taken from the expiratory circuit. This was found to be due to a low pressure flow of gas which, occurring during the exhalation phase, passed from the fluidic control system to the pressure alarm system via the pressure sense line and this line connected with the patient attachment at the proximal end of the expiratory circuit. This flow of gas was not essential for normal ventilator performance and after discussion with the distributing company (EME, Brighton) this gas flow was disconnected.

Flow measurements

The flow through the ventilator circuit was measured by a mesh-type pneumotachometer which was situated in the inspiratory circuit, proximal to the humidifier. The pneumotachometer was connected to a differential pressure transducer (Airspec,UK), which had an output of 5 volts

for 12 l/min and linearisation over a range of 0-12 l/min. Calibration of the pneumotachometer was undertaken using a calibrated syringe and a previously described computerised method which determines the conductance characteristics of the flowmeter 18. The conductance values of the pneumotachometer correspond to pressure values which are determined by a weighted averaging technique, following multiple strokes of the precision calibrated syringe. The conductance values allow the measured differential pressures to be converted point by point into flows. The precision of repeated calibrations was +/- 0.3% of the syringe volume using a 50 stroke calibration process. The accuracy of measured volumes was shown to be within +/~ 0.5% following a 100 stroke calibration process. Calibration was performed using room air and the effect of the difference in temperature, humidity and pressure from ventilation gas was considered to be minimal.

Mass spectrometer and ventilator connections.

Gas samples of approximately 100 mls/min were obtained through access points within the inspiratory and expiratory circuits and transmitted through capillaries to a standard miniature 3-way electro-magnetic valve (Airspec, UK), which was operated by computer control. The sampling times for inspiratory and expiratory gas can be individually programmed and in the reported clinical

studies the inspiratory time was 12 seconds and expiratory time 38 seconds. The valve directed the sample gas through a single capillary to the mass spectrometer. With both inspiratory and expiratory samples being fed in turn to the mass spectrometer through a common capillary the effects of pressure sensitivity on the analyses were removed.

Mass Spectrometer

Paramagnetic oxygen analysers and infra red carbon dioxide analysers require gas samples to pass through a drying chamber prior to analysis. This produces a significant delay in the response time and accurate synchronisation of the time of analysis with the collection time is necessary. This potential error can be avoided by measuring oxygen and carbon dioxide by mass spectrometry. With this method the gases are measured directly and the response time is such that the measurements can be considered immediate and simultaneous. In this system a quadrupole mass spectrometer (Airspec MGA 2000) was used. Factory evaluation of this instrument showed that reproducibility was better than 1% of value, drift was less than 1% in 24 hours, and linearity was better than 1% for uncorrected data. This instrument has a measurement resolution of 12 bits for 10 volts, and in the slow mode the analyser measures each gas every 20 milliseconds with

each data acquisition being the average of 256 measurements. The procedure of tuning and calibration of gases can be undertaken manually, or remotely by computer control. In this application the mass spectrometer was tuned to measure the concentration of oxygen, carbon dioxide, argon and nitrogen.

Measurement of Systematic Error

Initial validation studies of the complete system were undertaken using a dummy lung configuration. The dummy lung was a 0.5 litre rebreathing bag (M&IE Dentsply, Exeter, UK) and this was ventilated with settings similar to those required by an infant with moderately severe respiratory disease - rate 40/min, FiO₂ 40%, and inspiratory and expiratory pressures 20/4 cm H₂O. The aims of this evaluation were to determine drifts in measurement of oxygen and carbon dioxide concentration over time, and to confirm zero gas exchange with this nonbreathing system. Over the 24 hour study period drifts in oxygen concentration of +/- 0.5% were recorded and the carbon dioxide concentration remained within +/- 0.02%. To counteract the effect of possible drift on the calculations, the values taken for inspiratory gas concentrations were the mean of the measurements taken before and after the expiratory sample. With this modification, the mean VO2 and VCO2 measured using the

dummy lung configuration over 24 hours was 0.0 (+/- 0.1).

To assess the ability of the system to accurately measure gas exchange, gas infusion studies were designed to simulate levels of carbon dioxide production and oxygen consumption which are likely to occur in sick premature The ventilator settings during the infusion infants. In each case the relevant test studies were as above. gas was infused into the inspiratory circuit by a peristaltic infusion pump P-3 (Pharmacia, Sweden). The peristaltic pump was used in preference to a continuous flowmeter because the former emitted the gases in pulses and was therefore more accurately simulating the intermittent nature of respiration. The flow rate of the pump was measured on each occasion by infusing the gas into a previously calibrated U-shaped water manometer and from the volume of water displaced over a measured period of time, the flow rate calculated. The time periods were measured by a hand held stop-watch with a precision of The random error of the time measurement was 0.01 sec. assessed by recording repeated time measurements for the same displacement of water (7 ml). The mean(SD) of 20 measurements was 14.92(0.11) secs with the coefficient of variation (CV) of <0.75 %. The method of timing was The use of the water therefore sufficiently precise. manometer provided the additional advantage of allowing the measurement of the gas flow to be performed against a

pressure similar to that experienced when infusing into the ventilator circuit ie 4-20 cm H_2O . Saturation of the water with the infused gases was considered, but thought unlikely to occur, as the duration of infusion of gas through the manometer was always less than 60 secs. However, this was investigated by infusing oxygen, carbon dioxide and nitrogen over longer periods of time in order to identify changes in calculated flow rate. The flow rates were unchanged with time. The effect of any saturation was therefore considered to be negligible.

The results of the gas infusion studies are shown in Table 1. The carbon dioxide infusion (WCO₂) directly simulates CO_2 production (VCO₂). Nitrogen infusions simulate oxygen consumption by creating an O₂ difference which in gas exchange formulas is equivalent to O₂ consumption (VO₂). Using the measurements obtained during the infusion the volume of nitrogen infused (WN₂) and "oxygen consumption" can be calculated.

INFUSION	FLOW ml/min	MEASURED VCO ₂ ml/min (SD)	° CV	RELATIVE ERROR %	MEASURED VO ₂ ml/min	° CV	RELATIVE ERROR %	CALCULATED N ₂ ml/min	%	CV RELATIVE ERROR %
						•				
CARBON	3.86	3.80(0.23)	6.0	-1.5	,	ł	ı		۱	ı
UTUATUE	9.20	9.0(0.13)	1.4	-1.2	·	ı	ı	·	ı	ı
	13.98	13.83(0.53)	3.8	-1.1	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı	ı
OXYGEN	7.5	I	1	1	-7.8(0.31)	4.0	4.1	ı	1	ı
	9.36	ı	ı	ı	-9.7(0.44)	2.8	4.3	ı	ı	ı
	14.80	ı	ı	ı	-15.10(0.42)	2.0	2.0	ı	١	ı
NITROGEN	10.10	ı	ı	ı	1.90(0.9)	5.3	ı	9.95 (0.41)	4.1	-1.5
	14.0	·	ı	ł	5.45(0.49)	8.9	ı	14.20 (0.82)	5.7	1.4

Relative error = <u>calculated value - true value</u> x 100% true value

Table 1 Gas infusion studies

$$WN_2 = V(FiO_2 - FeO_2)$$

FeO_2

WN₂ is the volume of nitrogen infused V is flow volume per minute

 $VO_2 = (V_1 x FiO_2) - (V_2 x FeO_2)$ V₁ is inspiratory flow volume per minute V₂ is the expiratory flow volume ie V₁+WN₂

As a more direct method of measuring small oxygen differences between inspiratory and expiratory samples oxygen infusions were undertaken. In this test lung configuration the increased oxygen concentration was present in the expiratory sample producing a measurable "negative" oxygen consumption, this being calculated as above. Each gas infusion was a minimum of 60 mins duration (range 60-90 mins) and the means, standard deviations and coefficients of variation were calculated on a minimum of 40 data points (Table 1).

2.2.iii Clinical Evaluation

Clinical evaluation was undertaken on 10 preterm ventilated infants and the results are summarised in Table 2. The infants have been divided into those receiving total parenteral nutrition and those who were receiving dextrose infusion. The mean energy expenditure of all the infants studied was 40.2 kcal/kg/24hrs, with the lowest measurement of 28 kcal/kg/24hrs being in a 28 week gestation infant who was paralysed with a muscle relaxant. The mean RQ was greater than 1.0 in both groups.

	BIOLOGICAL DATA	VENTILATION	NUTRITIONAL	INTAKE		<u>CALORIMETRY</u>			
	B.W. GEST AGE WT g WEEKS DAYS g	RATE F ₁ 0 ₂ /min %	ENERGY INTAKE kcal/ kg/24 hrs	PROTEIN INTAKE g/kg/24 hrs	ENERGY EXPEND kcal/ kg/24 hrs	VO2 m1/kg /min	vco2 ml/kg /min	RQ	
TPN	1286 28.8 5 1126	30 32	75.0	2.1	42.3	5.8	6.17	1.07	
n = 5	(125) (2.0) (0.7) (159)	(20) (6.5)	(23)	(0.6)	(8.5)	(1.1)	(1.5)	(0.16)	
IV DEXTROSE	1862 30.2 2.4 1843	41.4 30.4	46.2	I	35.12 / E E V	4.66 / 0 0)	5.72	1.13	
0 	(CEC) (C.T) (C.C) (77C)	(0.0) (62)	(11)		(c.c)	(0.0)	(0.0)	(00.0)	

Table 2 <u>Clinical studies - ventilated infants</u>

The possibility of respiratory gases by-passing the endotracheal tube was investigated at the start of each study by placing the capillary adjacent to the nose and the mouth of the infant. If CO_2 and/or O_2 were detected then a flow-through technique using a canopy which completely enclosed the infant was undertaken (Photograph 2). The only difference from the ventilator system was that the inspiratory capillary sampled air entering the canopy and the expiratory capillary sampled the air leaving the canopy. This was undertaken at the start and finish of the studies, and the mean of the results included in the overall calculations. The extratracheal VO₂ ranged from -0.1 to +0.2 ml/min and VCO₂ 0.0 to +0.2 ml/min. In 5/10 infants there was no by-passing of the endotracheal tube.

INDIRECT CALORIMETRY SYSTEM



CANOPY SYSTEM FOR DETECTING EXTRA-TRACHEAL GAS EXCHANGE

2.2.iv DISCUSSION

An indirect calorimetry system for measuring energy expenditure and nutrient utilisation in sick ventilator dependent infants is described. Evaluation of the system shows there was no significant bias, and the instruments used were precise and accurate. Total system error during the worst test conditions was <5.0%. The inspiratory oxygen concentration during the studies was 40% and therefore the ratio of signal to noise very small during the studies with the low oxygen flows, but even in those conditions a relative error of 4% and coefficient of variation 4% would indicate that the system has adequate precision and accuracy to be used in the sickest infants.

The principal objectives of the system have been achieved in that it is non-invasive, compatible with continuous flow infant ventilators and operates without inconveniencing medical or nursing care. Studies of energy expenditure can continue for 24 hours or longer and can commence from the moment the infant is placed on the ventilator.

The rapid response time of the analyses and the real-time graphic display enables the acute and chronic effect of procedures and medications on energy expenditure and nutrient utilisation to be studied. The management of the sick premature infant involves a number of interventions which are likely to influence the energy balance and nutritional status of the infant, in particular, the administration of surfactant, dexamethasone and transfusion of blood.

Failure to capture all of the expired respiratory gases is a potential source of error with this method. It is also possible that ventilator gas may leak from the distal end of the endotracheal tube without entering the infant's lower respiratory tract, this producing a falsely high measurement for oxygen consumption. Leakages are less likely in the more premature infants and those infants who have had an endotracheal tube in-situ for a short time. Our findings were similar to that of Lucas and colleagues¹⁹ who found that by-passing of the endotracheal tube occurred in less than half the infants studied and was not more than 0.2 ml/min for carbon dioxide. In our studies we detected that the maximum leakage for both oxygen and carbon dioxide was 0.2 ml/min. The contribution of the skin to gas exchange has previously been reported²⁰, this being as much as 15% in the smallest infants. For these reasons in our canopy method the whole infant was enclosed and the results obtained are thought to reflect all extra-tracheal gaseous exchange. Ideally the canopy method should run simultaneously with sampling from the ventilator circuits and this may be possible with the aid of a multiplex valve, but this has yet to be tested in this system. Modified face masks have been used to collect intra and extra-tracheal gases²¹ but the placement of a mask on the face of an infant interferes with normal nursing care and because of its invasiveness may have an independent influence on the results obtained.

The clinical studies confirmed that the system did not affect the respiratory management of the infant and normal nursing and medical procedures were able to be undertaken. Preliminary results indicate that energy expenditure may be lower than previously suspected with the mean energy expenditure being 40.2 kcal/kg/day. From observation of these infants during the study periods, it is likely that this is partly due to the decrease in the work of breathing and also due to the reduced activity of the sick premature infant.

The other striking feature in the clinical studies was the finding that the respiratory quotient was generally greater than 1.0, this being most marked in some infants who were receiving intravenous dextrose alone. It has been demonstrated in adults that a high intravenous carbohydrate intake results in excess carbohydrate being converted to fat and this process results in a considerable increase in carbon dioxide production²². In order to eliminate this additional carbon dioxide, infants

who are receiving respiratory support are likely to require increased ventilatory requirements. One of the infants included in the clinical evaluation was being ventilated with air because of persistent carbon dioxide retention. He had been paralysed with a muscle relaxant, and calorimetry demonstrated that his resting energy expenditure was only 28 kcal/kg/day. His energy intake, which was solely carbohydrate for the first four days was almost double his expenditure. The respiratory quotient peaked at 1.4 on day 4 indicating a marked increase in carbon dioxide production as the excess carbohydrate was converted to fat. Persistently high blood sugars provided further evidence that the intake of carbohydrate was It is likely that a reduction in this inappropriate. infants carbohydrate intake would have resulted in a decrease in the rate of carbon dioxide production and reduction in carbon dioxide retention. This would have enabled the ventilator support (and the potential barotrauma) to be decreased and thus the risk of developing chronic lung disease reduced.

With the limited data from the clinical evaluation casting considerable doubt on the appropriateness of our present parenteral nutrition regimes for ventilator-dependent infants, more extensive data was required. Therefore, a further study of energy expenditure and carbon dioxide production in both ventilated and spontaneously breathing .

2.3 MEASUREMENT OF ENERGY EXPENDITURE, RESPIRATORY QUOTIENT, AND CARBON DIOXIDE PRODUCTION IN VENTILATED AND SPONTANEOUSLY BREATHING PRETERM INFANTS DURING THE FIRST 6 DAYS OF LIFE.

2.3.i INTRODUCTION

Data from the clinical evaluation indicated that, contrary to speculation, the energy expenditure of sick ventilatordependent low birthweight infants may not be greatly in excess of that measured in spontaneously breathing infants. If this finding is confirmed, it is likely that energy intakes, especially carbohydrate, may be excessive It was also noted that carbon dioxide for these infants. production was usually greater than oxygen consumption resulting in the respiratory quotient being greater than 1.0, and this increased carbon dioxide production could have serious implications for infants in respiratory failure. More data is therefore required on energy expenditure and respiratory quotients in those infants. A study was therefore undertaken to compare these parameters in ventilated and spontaneously breathing low birthweight infants during the first week of life.

2.3.ii PATIENTS

Using the newly developed and evaluated calorimetry system, infants of birthweight less than 2000g were studied during the first week of life. Twelve infants, mean birth weight (SD) 1350 (274)g were receiving artificial ventilation and 10 infants, mean birth weight 1383 (372)g were breathing air spontaneously. All were receiving total parenteral nutrition. Each study took place between the hours of 10.00 and 13.00 and the minimum duration was 120 minutes.

2.3.iii RESULTS

On days 1-2, 3-4, and 5-6 there was no difference in energy expenditure between the two groups, but both groups demonstrated a similar trend of increasing energy expenditure during this time (Table 3). The respiratory quotient was greater than 1.0 in both groups of infants (Table 3).

			INFANTS		
			VENTILATED SP	ONT.	BREATHING
n			12		10
Weigh mean	t g (SD))	1350 (274)	1383	3 (372)
EE (k	cal/	'kg/d	ay)		
D	ays	1-2	36.5 (6.3)	37.2	2 (6.9)
		3-4	39.1 (9.9)	38.5	7 (4.8)
		5-6	45.1 (7.0)	44.7	0 (7.2)
RQ			ventilated v non-ventilated		p = 0.78
D	ays	1-2	1.04 (0.12)	1.1	(0.11)
		3-4	1.10 (0.11)	1.09	0.1)
		5.6	1.07 (0.10)	1.04	4 (0.1)
			ventilated v non-ventilated	d	p = 0.78

(Analysis of Variance)

Table 3 <u>Energy expenditure (EE) and respiratory quotient</u> (RQ) of ventilated and spontaneous breathing very low birthweight infants during days 1-6.

ENERGY EXPENDITURE AND NUTRIENT UTILISATION ?



28 week gestation 990g infant post surgery energy expenditure 184 kJ/kg/day respiratory quotient 1.1.

Contrary to previous speculation the energy expenditure of ventilated infants during the first week of life is not greater than that of spontaneously breathing infants and it may be much less if paralysing agents are prescribed. This has important implications for the development of feeding regimes for these infants (Photograph 3). In both groups of infants the respiratory quotient was greater than 1.0 indicating that excess carbohydrate is converted to fat and carbon dioxide production is increased. Parenteral nutrition regimes traditionally begin solely with dextrose infusion, then amino acids and fat emulsion are gradually introduced towards the end of the first It may be that a more acceptable formulation of week. energy intake for these infants during these first few days is a combination of fat and carbohydrate, as this may reduce the risk of hyperglycaemia and hypercarbia²². Although there have been concerns that the early introduction of fat emulsions may increase the risk of chronic lung disease 23,24,25 , there is recent evidence indicating that fat emulsions may reduce lung damage²⁶. Nutritionally, recent evidence from clinical tolerance studies indicates that fat emulsions are safe and likely to be beneficial²⁷. To date there are no calorimetry data available on ventilated infants receiving fat emulsion during the first day of life and this requires

further investigation.

It is likely that inadequate protein intake contributes to the poor growth of these sick infants. High protein turnover rates have been reported and nitrogen retention is considerably less than that achieved by healthy preterm infants receiving enteral feeds²⁸. Protein turnover data in ventilated infants is limited 29 and information on how protein turnover is affected by different rates of energy expenditure and different mixes of energy intake, is not available. This can be obtained by combining stable isotope labelled amino acid studies with the described indirect calorimetry system. Data from such studies will enable appropriate parenteral nutrition regimes to be developed which will not only improve nutrient accretion rates but also reduce the ventilator requirements of these infants.

2.4 CONCLUSIONS

A non-invasive, precise and accurate system for measurement of energy expenditure in sick ventilatordependent low birthweight infants has been developed. Initial data indicates that energy expenditure in this group of infants may be less than speculated and the energy/protein mix in nutritional regimes for these infants may be inappropriate. The calorimetry system will be used in combination with stable isotope studies to provide more specific nutrient turnover data. The ultimate aim is the formulation of feeding regimes which will enable normal nutrient accretion and growth to be achieved, and will not exacerbate respiratory failure in these vulnerable infants.

CHAPTER 3

INVESTIGATION OF THE AETIOLOGY OF BREAST MILK JAUNDICE

3.1 BACKGROUND TO THE STUDIES

Breast milk jaundice which was first described nearly 30 years ago^{30} , is an unconjugated hyperbilirubinaemia which occurs in approximately 2-4% of otherwise healthy breast fed infants 31 . Despite the time interval since the original description, the aetiology remains uncertain. An aetiological mechanism which has been widely postulated is that the concentration of non-esterified fatty acids (FFA) in the milk of infants with breast milk jaundice is increased and elevated concentrations of free fatty acids have been shown in-vitro to inhibit the activity of the conjugating enzyme hepatic glucuronyl transferase ³². Support for this mechanism comes from further in-vitro studies which have demonstrated that, after a period of storage, the breast milk of normal infants has a similar inhibitory effect on glucuronyl transferase activity. Further analysis of these milks indicated that lipolysis had occurred during the period of storage and the concentration of free fatty acids had increased 33 .

An increased or abnormal lipase activity in the milk has been postulated as a possible explanation for the presence of elevated free fatty acid concentrations in the milks of jaundiced infants³⁴. Lipoprotein lipase (or serum stimulated lipase) was originally reported to be specifically increased in milk from mothers of infants with prolonged jaundice³⁵, but this was not supported by subsequent studies which demonstrated increased LPL activity in milk from mothers of normal infants³⁶. This study also reported elevated FFA concentrations in milks of normal infants. Another group of investigators have been unable to demonstrate differences in LPL activity or free fatty acid concentrations in the breast milk of mothers of jaundiced and control infants³⁷.

The other human milk lipase, bile salt-stimulated lipase (BSSL), was studied by Poland and colleagues and they showed that BSSL activity did not differ between milk from mothers of infants with prolonged jaundice and control mothers 38 . But their data on free fatty acid concentrations in the milks did support previous data 32 by demonstrating increased concentrations of FFA in the milk of jaundiced infants. They also demonstrated increased lipase activity in those milks which they stated was due to an "unstimulated" lipase. The activity of this lipase was approximately twice as high in jaundiced milks when compared to the level in normal milks. The investigators subsequently postulated that this increased lipase activity was not due to LPL but an abnormal lipase which

has chemical characteristics similar to BSSL but does not require prior stimulation by bile salts³⁹. For this conclusion to be drawn, it was assumed that bile salts necessary for stimulation of BSSL were not present in breast milk. There being no studies to confirm this assumption an initial study was undertaken to determine if bile salts are present in breast milk.

3.2 A STUDY OF BREAST MILK FOR THE PRESENCE OF BILE SALTS.

3.2.i Subjects and Materials

Twenty-eight samples of breast milk were obtained from 28 lactating mothers at various times during the first postpartum week. No attempt was made to standardise the collection at a particular time of day nor at a particular time after a feed. Thus, milk samples were effectively unselected. Random samples of blood were taken from 12 mothers for determination of serum bile acids in the first post-natal week.

Radioactive bile acids ([³H]-cholic acid and [³H]chenodeoxycholic acid) were supplied by New England Nuclear Ltd., USA. Anti-bile acid sera were raised in our own laboratory and characterised as previously described⁴⁰. Other chemicals and solvents were of analytical reagent grade.

3.2.ii Method

Radioimmunoassay (RIA) was carried out as described in an earlier report from this laboratory⁴⁰, but assay of unextracted milk failed to give reliable results. Consequently, milk (0.5 ml) was mixed well with 2 ml methanol and precipitated proteins were removed by centrifugation at 1000 x g. The supernatant was mixed

with a further 2 ml methanol and stored at 4° C overnight before a further centrifugation at 1000 x g. The supernatant was dried at 40° C under N₂ and the residue dissolved in 0.5 ml 70% w/v methanol-water. This was extracted twice with 2 ml n-heptane which was discarded. The methanol-water fraction was dried again under N_{2} , dissolved in 1 ml 0.01 M phosphate buffer, pH 7.4 (i.e. 1:2 dilution of original sample). An aliquot (0.1 ml) of this solution was used for assay of combined glycine and taurine conjugates of cholate and chenodeoxycholate. As a few samples indicated increasing concentrations when studied by progressive dilution, a heptane wash was incorporated into the extraction procedure. Following this step progressive dilution of samples gave the same values after assay and correction for dilution. We also confirmed that recovery of the two bile salts following this extraction procedure was similar (79.9% cholate, 87.5% chenodeoxycholate). Data were analysed using the Wilcoxon non-parametric rank sum test.

3.2.iii Results

Bile salts were found in all samples of milk analysed and also in colostrum (Table 4, Appendix 3.2 iii a). In both colostrum and milk there was a predominance of cholate, the ratio cholate conjugates to chenodeoxycholate conjugates being 2.6:1 and 3.4:1, respectively.

	Serum (umol/l)	Colostrum (umol/l)	Milk (umol/l)	Serum- milk ratio	P Value
Cholate					
Mean	0.93+0.13	0.24 ± 0.05	0.89 <u>+</u> 0.13 (SEM)	1:1	NS
Range	0.32-2.17	0.15-0.43	0.29-2.86		
Chenodeox	ycholate				
Mean	0.89 ± 0.15	0.09 ± 0.05	0.26 <u>+</u> 0.057 (SEM)	4:1	<0.01
Range	0.39-1.81	0.02-0.27	0.02-1.50		
Table 4.	Concentration of bile sal	ts in serum, colostr	rum and breast milk		

3.2.iv Discussion

This study demonstrates for the first time that bile salts are present in colostrum and breast milk. There was a wide range of concentration for both cholate and chenodeoxycholate (Table 4), and it is likely that this reflects the random sampling in the study.

Many agents present in maternal serum are detected in breast milk⁴¹. In most instances their presence is secondary to passive diffusion and the concentration in breast milk is related to maternal serum concentration. In our study, maternal serum levels measured in the first post-natal week showed a cholate to chenodeoxycholate ratio of 1:1 (Table 4, Appendix 3.2 iv a). If bile salts enter the alveolar cell by passive diffusion then the primary bile salt ratio in the milk should be similar to that in serum or possibly show a predominance of the less polar dihydroxy bile salt, chenodeoxycholate. We found that there was an increased proportion of the more polar bile salt, cholate, the cholate to chenodeoxycholate ratio being 3.4:1. There was little difference between the serum and milk concentrations of cholate but there was a significant difference between the serum and milk concentrations of chenodeoxycholate (P<0.01). This cannot be explained by a difference in recovery as we found the recoveries of the two bile salts were similar.

Passive diffusion is often more marked during the colostral phase when breast circulation and permeability are increased⁴¹. We found that the concentration of cholate and chenodeoxycholate were lower in colostrum when compared with milk. Whether bile salts are actively transported by mammary tissue, as occurs in the distal small bowel⁴², remains to be determined.

The concentrations of the bile salts in the milk are several orders in magnitude lower than the intraduodenal concentrations⁴³ required to stimulate bile salt stimulated enzyme activity in the gut, and BSSL activity is therefore unlikely to occur within the milk⁴⁴. But the bile salt concentration within the mammary tissue remains unknown, and there may be specific compartmentalisation of bile salt and BSSL within the breast which might allow interaction between these agents. Such an interaction could explain the difference in free fatty acid concentration between normal breast milk and the milk of infants with breast milk jaundice. A more extensive study was therefore undertaken to determine the relationship of bile salts, bile salt stimulated lipase, and free fatty acid concentration in normal milks and the milks of infants with breast milk jaundice.

OF RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BILE SALTS, 3.3 A STUDY THE BILE SALT STIMULATED LIPASE AND FREE FATTY ACIDS IN BREAST MILK OF NORMAL INFANTS AND INFANTS WITH BREAST MILK JAUNDICE

3.3.i INTRODUCTION

The aims of this study were to provide further longitudinal data on the presence of bile salts in breast milk, and to investigate the relationship between the concentrations of bile salts, the free fatty acid concentration and the BSSL activity in the milk of normal infants and the milk of infants with breast milk jaundice.

3.3.ii PATIENTS

Determination of the concentration of bile salts in breast milk at different stages of lactation

Mothers of healthy newborn infants were recruited in the early neonatal period and 42 provided breast milk samples at 2 weeks, 30 at 6 weeks, 16 at 10 weeks, and 12 at 14 weeks. Each sample was taken from the same breast at the same time of day (mid-morning) using an Egnell breast pump. The sample was either analysed immediately or stored at -80° before being analysed for bile salts, BSSL activity and free fatty acids.

Determination of the bile salt concentration, free fatty acid concentration and BSSL activity in milk from mothers

of infants with breast milk jaundice

During the period of study, 12 infants with breast milk jaundice took part in the study. The diagnosis was based on the presence of a prolonged unconjugated hyperbilirubinaemia (> 200 umol/l at 10 days of age) which was associated with negative laboratory investigations including tests of liver function, thyroid function, infection and blood group analysis. When breast feeding was discontinued for 24-48 hours, a decrease in the level of jaundice was demonstrated directly by measuring the serum bilirubin or indirectly using a bilirubin meter (Minolta / Airshields Meter 101). Milk samples using the above procedure were analysed for bile salt concentration, free fatty acid concentration and BSSL activity.

3.3.iii METHODS

Bile salt assay

Bile salts were extracted from the breast milk using a modification of our previously reported procedure⁴⁵. Two mls human milk, 2 ml 0.05M NaOH and 0.5 g XAD7 resin were mixed for one hour on a rotary mixer before centrifugation at 1000 xg for ten minutes. The supernatant was extracted with more resin and both resin batches retained,

washed briefly with 1.0 ml of 0.05 M NaOH and the bile acids eluted with 2 x 2ml methanol. These eluates were combined, dried under N_2 and redissolved in 0.05 M NaOH (1 ml) which was extracted with 2 ml diethyl ether which was The alkaline solution was acidified with 0.25 discarded. ml 6 M HCl and the bile acids extracted three times into ethyl acetate (2 ml). These extracts were combined, evaporated to dryness and dissolved in 2 ml of methanol. Water (1 ml) was added and the solution passed through a Bond-elut column (Jones Chromatography Ltd, Llanbradach, Mid Glam.) primed with methanol. This procedure removed contaminating fatty acids (retained on the Bond-elut) while bile acids elute in the methanol/water. This was dried down and the bile acids, cholate and chenodeoxycholate were assayed by radio-immunoassay as previously described⁴⁶.

The chenodeoxycholate antiserum is specific for conjugated chenodeoxycholic acid and does not differentiate between glycine and taurine conjugates. The limit of quantitation is 0.01umol/1, corresponding to 1.0pmol per assay tube with a coefficient of variation of 17%. This figure improves to 5% when the concentration is 0.02umol/1. The cholate antiserum also does not differentiate between glycine and taurine conjugates, and we demonstrated that there was an 11.7% cross reaction with chenodeoxycholate conjugates. As the cholate levels
exceeded chenodeoxycholate levels by approximately 4 fold this will not result in a significant over-estimation of cholate levels.

BSSL activity

The emulsion substrate for lipase activity was prepared according to Mehta⁴⁷. Briefly this involved emulsification of 10uCi of (¹⁴C)-Triolein and 25mg of nonradioactive carrier Triolein in 1.25ml 1M Tris-HCL buffer pH 9.0 and 1.0ml of freshly prepared gum arabic (10%w/v). A Soniprep 150 was used for two periods of 60s at a power setting of 50 amplitude microns.

The incubation was carried out and terminated as described by Mehta³⁹, using methanol:chloroform:heptane (1.41:1.25:1.0). The incubation medium included 0.033 ml of the emulsion substrate, 0.15 sodium taurocholate (12 mM in 0.06 M tris, pH 8.6), 0.3 ml albumin solution (2.5% w/w in 0.06 M tris, pH 8.6) and 0.02 ml milk diluted in veronal buffer 5 mM, pH 7.4. Free fatty acids were partitioned by addition of 1.05ml of 0.05M potassium carbonate buffer pH 10.0, as described by Belfrage and Vaughan⁴⁸. Extraction losses were corrected by use of (^{14}C) -Oleic acid tracer added to blanks prepared using emulsion which did not contain (^{14}C) -Triolein.

Free fatty acid assay

The milk (0.1ml) was mixed with 0.8 ml water and tricosanoic acid (10 ug) and acidified before extraction three times with 2 ml n-heptane containing 0.05% w/v bishydroxy-toluene. The extract was methylated with diazomethane and the fatty acid methyl esters assayed by GLC using a 30m Megabore column coated with DB225.

The results are expressed as medians with 95% confidence intervals and the data was analysed using rank correlation test, Wilcoxon one sample test, and regression analyses to determine the relationship between the different variables.

Bile salt concentration, BSSL activity and free fatty acids in normal milk

The median cholate and chenodeoxycholate concentrations in breast milk at 2, 6, 10 and 14 weeks are shown in Table 5. There was a marked decline in the concentration of both bile salts as lactation progressed (p<0.05). There was a marked dominance of cholate over chenodeoxycholate with the ratio peaking at 10 weeks (Table 5, Appendix 3.3 iv The concentrations of free fatty acid and BSSL a). activity at 2, 6, 10 and 14 weeks are also shown in Table There was considerable intra - and inter - individual 5. variation in levels of FFA but there was no significant trend in the concentrations at the different times of There was no significant association between lactation. bile salt and FFA concentration at any stage of lactation.

There was a marked decline in the BSSL activity with duration of lactation (p<0.01), but this was not significantly association with either the concentration of bile salts or FFA. Similar results to the crosssectional data were obtained when the data from 12 mothers who provided samples at each of the sample times were analysed to determine individual trends. A less marked decline in the concentration of chenodeoxycholate was the only noticeable difference (Table 6).

<u>Concentration of bile salts, free fatty acid and BSSL</u> <u>activity in the milk from mothers of infants with breast</u> <u>milk jaundice</u>

The median cholate and chenodeoxycholate concentrations are shown in Table 7. The only significant difference between the jaundice milks and the normal milks was the concentration of cholate which had a significant effect on the cholate to chenodeoxycholate ratio (p<0.01). The BSSL activity and free fatty acid concentrations are also shown in Table 7 (Appendix 3.3 iv b) and are not significantly different from the levels obtained in normal milks. There was no correlation between the bile salt concentration, BSSL activity and free fatty acid concentration.

WEEKS	7	9	10	14	
No. of samples	42	30	16	12	
CHOLATE umol/l	0.515 (0.46-0.63)	0.57 (0.47-0.64)	0.52 (0.43-0.64)	0.39 $r=0.23$ (0.35-0.45) $p<0.05$	
CHENO umol/l	0.21 (0.19-0.26)	0.20 (0.17-0.24)	0.15 (0.10-0.18)	$\begin{array}{ccc} 0.15 & r=0.34 \\ (0.12-0.18) & p<0.01 \end{array}$	
CHOLATE/CHENO RATIO	2.52 (2.26-2.81)	2.80 (2.24-3.92)	4.88 (2.72-7.83)	2.53 r=0.13 (2.22-3.49) NS	
BSSL ACTIVITY*	64.2 (47.5-82.2)	45.0 (36.7-61.5)	40.9 (29.5-52.2)	21.2 $r=0.34$ (14.0-38.2) $p<0.01$	
FFA mmol/l	1.57 (1.23-2.11)	3.55 (1.99-5.35)	2.70 (1.58-4.99)	3.37 r=0.13 (1.08-6.37) NS	
* umol FFA produced/1	ml milk/min	(95% CI)			
Table 5. <u>Median cholat</u>	e and chenodeo	xycholate cond	centrations, BS	SL activity, and free	

fatty acid concentration in breast milk at 2, 6, 10, and 14 weeks.

Cross-sectional data from 44 mothers.

WEEKS	7	9	10	14	
No. of Samples	12	12	12	12	
CHOLATE	0.57	0.63	0.53	0.40	p<0.05
umol/l	(0.42-0.71)	(0.52-0.79)	(0.42-0.67)	(0.36-0.47)	
CHENO	0.22	0.17	0.12	0.17	SN
umo1/1	(0.17-0.29)	(0.13-0.22)	(0.09-0.17)	(0.14-0.20)	
CHOLATE/CHENO	2.59	4.60	5.66	2.46	SN
RATIO	(2.14-2.89)	(2.63-7.12)	(2.79-10.56)	(2.12-3.40)	
BSSL	71.4	51.7	40.5	33.0	p<0.01
ACTIVITY*	(45.0-99.5)	(34.2-90.5)	(28.2-52.2)	(15.2-46.2)	
FFA	2.37	4.17	2.25	3.07	SN
mmol/l	(0.67-9.2)	(1.01-8.13)	(1.19-3.41)	(1.08-5.09)	
* umol FFA produced/m	l milk/min	(95%CI)			
Table 6. <u>Median cholat</u>	e and chenoded	xylate concent	<u>cration, BSSL a</u>	ctivity, and	<u>free fatty</u>

ŀ

acid concentration in breast milk taken trom 12 mothers at 2, 6, 10, and 14 weeks.

Table 7. Median cholate and chenodeoxycholate concentrations, BSSL activity, and free infants and infants with fatty acid concentrations in breast milk of normal breast milk jaundice.

3.3.v DISCUSSION

This study provides further data on the presence of bile salts in breast milk. We have extended our initial study by determining the levels of bile salts in breast milk at different stages of lactation. We have again demonstrated that cholate is the dominant bile salt in contrast to maternal serum where chenodeoxycholate is present in higher concentrations⁴⁵. The levels of both cholate and chenodeoxycholate are inversely related to the duration of lactation.

We hypothesised that bile salts in breast tissue or less likely, in the milk, may be of sufficient concentration to interact with bile salt stimulated lipase and initiate the hydrolysis of triglyceride to free fatty acid. We measured bile salt concentration and free fatty acid concentration in breast milk of normal mothers and in the milk of mothers whose infants were diagnosed as having breast milk jaundice. There was no association between the bile salt concentration and that of FFA in either the normal controls or the breast milk jaundice group. In addition, we did not detect a significant difference in the free fatty acid concentration between the breast milk jaundice group and the normal controls. This finding is at variance with that reported by $Poland^{38}$ but in agreement with the findings of Constantopoulos³⁷

This study provides additional data on changes in BSSL activity during lactation. Four previous studies have reported conflicting results^{47,49,50,51}. Two indicated that there was no change with duration of lactation but their results were based on cross-sectional data. Another study reported a decline in BSSL with length of lactation and the other stated that BSSL was static but there was a decrease in bile-salt stimulated esterase activity. Both our cross-sectional data and the data from the mothers who provided samples at each of the sample times demonstrate a significant fall in BSSL activity with duration of lactation. We did not find any significant difference in BSSL activity between the normal controls and the breast milk jaundice group.

Some of the confusion regarding the relationship between human milk lipolytic activity, free fatty acid concentration and breast milk jaundice is that various investigators have measured different forms of lipase activity. Constantopoulos³⁷ measured lipoprotein lipase activity which he found not to be increased, Poland³⁸ measured bile salt stimulated lipase activity and in agreement with our findings found no significant difference in BSSL activity between the two groups. He also identified an "unstimulated" lipase, the activity of which corresponded with increased free fatty acid concentrations in the milk. Only nine mothers of infants with breast milk jaundice were studied and the method used for storing the milk has since been shown not to prevent spontaneous hydrolysis of triglyceride to FFA^{53,54}. In addition, the substrate for lipolytic activity was tributyrin, a triglyceride containing short chain fatty acids which can be hydrolysed to a certain extent by both lipoprotein lipase and BSSL without their specific cofactors ⁵². A more recent study supports our findings by reporting the absence of higher BSSL, lipoprotein lipase or "unstimulated" lipase activity in milk of infants with breast milk jaundice⁵⁵.

Although we do not support the view that breast milk jaundice is associated with increased FFA concentrations within the milk, we do confirm that FFA concentrations vary widely between individuals and also within the one individual at different times. The mechanism of this is not known and whether bile salts have any role to play is still uncertain because of the lack of information on possible intra-mammary activity. Following the publication of this data, the possibility that bile salt concentrations may be higher in the mammary gland or that specific intracellular compartmentalisation of bile salts and lipase might affect their interaction within the cell has again been raised^{56,57}. It is of interest that the concentrations of cholate were significantly higher than is more effective in stimulating bile salt stimulated lipase⁵⁸. Previous reports on serum bile salt concentrations in infants with breast milk jaundice show an increase in the cholate to chenodeoxycholate ratios⁵⁹, and it has been suggested that in breast milk jaundice there is increased enterohepatic circulation of bile acid as well as bilirubin⁶⁰.

More recently a further analysis of the fat composition of normal and jaundice milks has confirmed similar total concentrations of fatty acids within the two milks, but increases in specific fatty acids such as 18:3w6, 20:5w3 and total 6 desaturation products were found in the jaundice causing milks⁵². These fatty acids are only minor components of milk fat but because of their specific distribution in the milk fat globule membrane it has been suggested that these changes in concentration might affect the stability of the membrane and allow access of lipase to the triglyceride within the core. This interaction could be enabled by the elevated cholic acid levels found in our studies. This hypothesis requires further examination.

3.4 CONCLUSIONS

These studies report for the first time that bile salts are present in breast milk. The significance of this finding requires further investigation particularly regarding possible intramammary activity. The findings refute previous claims on the association of increased lipase activity and elevated free fatty acid concentrations with the aetiology of Breast Milk Jaundice. Marked intra- and inter-individual variation in free fatty acid concentration is noted in normal and jaundice milks. The mechanism of this is uncertain but an intra-mammary interaction between bile salts and the enzyme bile-salt stimulated lipase cannot be excluded and requires further investigation.

CHAPTER 4

IS EARLY SOLID FEEDING HARMFUL TO THE INFANT?

4.1 BACKGROUND TO THE STUDY

Successive reports on the Present Day Practice of Infant Feeding^{61,62,63} have stated that solid food should not be introduced before three months and preferably not before four months of age. This view has received the support of both European and American Committees^{64,65}. Despite this overwhelming professional advice, many infants receive solids before this time; the OPCS survey of 1980 showed that 56% of infants were introduced to solids before three months of age and the proportion increased to 62% when the survey was repeated in 1985⁶⁶. The reasons for discouraging the premature introduction of solids include the possible risk of excessive weight gain^{67,68}, vulnerability of the gut to infection⁶⁹, and increased susceptibility to the development of allergic disease⁷⁰.

Although initial studies showed that infants who received early solids were significantly heavier than infants who were introduced to solids at the recommended time^{67,68}, more recent reports have been unable to confirm this association^{71,72,73}. To determine the independent effect of early solids on weight gain, numerous other factors which may influence infant weight gain such as maternal height, sex of infant, birth weight, and type of milk feed must be considered. To date, there are no studies demonstrating the effect of early solids on weight gain, after extensive adjustments have been made for each of these and other relevant factors.

Although the early introduction of solids in Third World countries has been shown to place the infant at increased risk of gastrointestinal infection⁶⁹, there is at present no data either to support or refute this claim for infants growing up in a developed society.

Studies on infant feeding and allergic disease have concentrated on the effect of breast milk and artificial formula⁷⁴, and there are few data on the role of solid feeding. Recent reports from one centre in New Zealand have shown an increase in the incidence of eczema at 2 and 10 years of age in children who were commenced on solid food before 4 months of age^{75,76}. The incidence of asthma was not influenced by the early introduction of solids⁷⁷, and other allergic disorders were not considered in these reports.

A study was therefore undertaken to determine the influence of the early introduction of solid foods on weight gain, the risk of gastro-intestinal disease and the risk of allergic disorders occurring during the first 2 years of life.

4.2 Study to determine if early solid feeding is harmful to the infant.

4.2.i Subjects

The infants, who were born between 38-42 weeks' gestation, were recruited to the study following a detailed verbal explanation to the parents. All mothers were delivered in the single obstetric unit, they were resident in the city of Dundee and living in a stable relationship.

4.2.ii Methods

Data collection

Infant feeding

Planned home visits were made by the mother's health visitor at 0.5, 1, 2, 3, 4, 6, 9, 12, 15, 18, 21 and 24 months. At each visit, using a standardised questionnaire (Appendix 4.2 ii a), details of infant feeding in the 24 hours prior to the visit were recorded, namely number of breast feeds, number and types of formula feeds, number of juice and water feeds and number of solid feeds per day (Appendix 4.2 ii b). As appropriate the dates were recorded of the first formula feed, first cow's milk feed, first solid feed and last breast feed. Supplementary feeding was defined as the introduction of formula feeds, cow's milk or solid feeds, specifically omitting the use of juice or water. Mothers were supplied with feeding and infant illness record cards to facilitate accuracy of recall.

Milk Feeding Groups

On the basis of the infant feeding record mothers were allocated into one of four milk feeding groups as follows:

- Exclusive breast feeding mother breast feeding for
 13 weeks or more who did not introduce supplements
 before that time.
- Partial breast feeding mothers breast feeding for 13 weeks or more who introduced supplements before that time.
- Early weaners mothers starting breast feeding but discontinuing before 13 weeks.
- 4. Bottle feeders mothers starting bottle feeding from birth. Bottle feeders were further divided according to the initial milk formula received and subsequent changes of formula.

Solid Feeding Groups

The timing of the first solid food was recorded and infants were allocated to the appropriate solid feeding group -

- 1. Solids introduced before aged 8 weeks.
- 2. Between 8-12 weeks
- 3. After 12 weeks.

Anthropometry

Infant weight was recorded at 4, 8, 13, 26, 52 and 104 weeks. Weights were recorded by scales with 20g divisions (Marsden Weighing Machines, London) which were routinely checked three monthly.

Infant health

A standardised data sheet was used to collect the information on all episodes of infant illness (Appendix 4.2 ii c). Definitions for each illness were derived from those of Chandra⁷⁸ and have been previously reported⁷⁹. Gastrointestinal illness was defined as vomiting and/or diarrhoea occurring as a discrete illness and lasting for 48 hours or more. This was differentiated from persistent posseting or episodes of regurgitation which were coded separately. Diarrhoea was diagnosed on the basis of frequent unformed stool of 48 hours duration or more and these episodes were distinguished from chronic diarrhoeal disease such as

cow's milk intolerance and malabsorption which were coded separately. Respiratory illness lasting 48 hours or more was coded under the predominant symptom - coryza, cough or wheeze. The diagnosis of eczema was based on the presence of the typical itchy papulovesicular rash and napkin dermatitis was coded separately.

For each episode of illness the health visitor was asked to record whether or not the General Practitioner had been consulted, had confirmed the diagnosis of disease, and/or prescribed therapy. Hospital admissions were also recorded and the diagnosis confirmed by scrutiny of the hospital case records. At the completion of the two years of follow-up the General Practitioner's records of the child were scrutinised to supplement the health visitor's data on childhood illness with previously unrecorded episodes being added to the record.

Biological, socio-economic and environmental factors.

A number of biological, socio-economic and environmental factors thought possibly to affect the health and growth of infants were identified and recorded either at recruitment or during the study (Appendix 4.2 iii d).

<u>Biological factors</u>

Maternal height, birth weight, gestation, sex of infant, Maternal history of allergic disease.

Socio-economic and environmental factors

Maternal age, parity, marital status, age of leaving school, maternal and paternal smoking, paternal age and social class.

Data analysis

The data were transferred to a main frame computer for analysis and the statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS-X) was used to describe the incidence of illness and the distribution of risk factors. The relation of illness or weight to several explanatory variables was investigated using multiple logistic Generalised linear interactive modelling was regression. used to perform the calculations and provide tests of significance and standard errors of the estimated variables in the function. Chi-square tests were used to compare differences in risk factors between groups. Where a weight was not measured at the exact scheduled age, it was estimated by extrapolating from the two nearest dates of measurement provided one of the measurements was within a specified period. These limits were 2, 7, 13, 15, and 20 weeks for the ages of 8, 13, 26, 52 and 104 weeks. Extrapolation assumed the relation between weight and log(age+40 weeks) was linear.

4.2.iii RESULTS

In this study 9.7% of infants were started on solids before 8 weeks and 49.4% between 8 and 12 weeks of age. There were several nutritional, biological and sociological differences between the early and late solid Solids were introduced earlier in infants who feeders. were male, and who were from lower socio-economic groups (Table 8). Early solid feeding was more frequent in bottle fed infants but even in the partial breast feeding group, 65% of infants received solids before 13 weeks. (Table 9). The early introduction of solids was not related to the type of formula the infant received (Table 10). There was no relationship between birth weight and the time of introduction of solids in contrast to the change from whey dominant to casein dominant formula in which there was a trend from remaining with whey dominant formulas in the lower birth weight groups to changing over to casein dominant formulas in infants of birth weight greater than 4000 g (Table 11).

The effect of nutritional, socio-economic and biological variables on weight gain were studied using multiple logistic regression analysis. Factors which had a significant independent effect on weight gain throughout the first two years of life were maternal height (p<0.01), birth weight (p<0.001), male sex of infant (p<0.001) and gestation (p<0.01) (Appendix 4.2 iii a). At 8 weeks of age breast fed infants were heavier than bottle fed infants but thereafter there was no significant difference. Factors which did not have an independent effect on weight were parity, parental smoking, social class, gastrointestinal and respiratory illness.

Both unadjusted data and data adjusted for the above independent variables showed that early solid feeders (both groups <8 weeks and 8-12 weeks) were heavier than infants who received solids after 12 weeks at 8 weeks (p<0.05), 13 weeks (p<0.001), 26 weeks (p<0.005) and 52 weeks (p<0.05). At 104 weeks there was no difference between the three groups (p>0.05) (Table 12, Appendix 4.2 iii b). At each of the study periods there was no significant difference in weight between infants who received solids before 8 weeks and those who received solids between 8-12 weeks.

The analysis of weights included 584 (100%) infants at 8 weeks, 576 (99.3%) at 13 weeks, 544 (93.2%) at 26 weeks, 548 (93.8%) at 52 weeks and 392 at 104 weeks. As the sample at 104 weeks was only 67% of the sample at 8 weeks, this group was studied in more detail to determine whether it was truly representative of the earlier samples studied. The proportions of the three solid feeding groups at 8 and 104 weeks were almost identical -

9.7% v 9.4%, 47.4% v 48.0% and 42.9% v 42.6% respectively and association between rows and columns was not significant (X^2 2.9, p=0.24 for 2 degrees of freedom). Multiple regression analysis of the 392 infants followed to 104 weeks demonstrated that factors which had an independent effect on weight were identical to the 8 week group - birth weight, gestation, male sex and maternal height throughout the 2 years and breast feeding at 8 The mean weights of the 392 infants, at each of weeks. the study periods, for each of the solid feeding groups, were similar to the weights achieved by all the infants studied at those times. Sub-group analysis confirmed a similar pattern to the larger sample except that the effect of early solid feeding on weight gain was not significant by 52 weeks (Table 13).

Multiple regression analysis identified maternal age (p<0.01), socio-economic group (p<0.001), and type of milk feed (p<0.001) as having a significant influence on the incidence of gastrointestinal illness during the first two years of life. The analysis of the effect of early solid feeding on the incidence of gastrointestinal illness was studied using unadjusted data and data which had been adjusted for the above factors and in both analyses the frequency of gastrointestinal illness was not influenced by the early introduction of solids. (Table 14).

The effect of early solid feeding on the development of allergic disease was studied using skin disorders (eczema and napkin dermatitis), and respiratory illness (wheeze and persistent cough) as outcomes. For each of the solid feeding groups, adjustments were made for birthweight, gestation, parity, maternal age and maternal history of The early introduction of solids was allergic disease. associated with an increased incidence of respiratory illness at 14-26 weeks, and persistent cough at 14-26 and Napkin dermatitis, and wheeze were not 27-39 weeks. related to the early introduction of solids. At two years of age there was a significant difference in the incidence of eczema between the three feeding groups and this was primarily due to the difference between the 8-12 week and the after 12 week solid feeders (Difference 8.4%, 95% CI 2-15%, X² (1df) 5.8, p=0.02) (Tables 15, 16, 17, 18, 19).

The analysis of these illnesses was based on 665 (100%) infants at 13 weeks, 657 (98.8%) at 26 weeks, 650 (97.7%) at 39 weeks, 634 (95.3%) at 52 weeks, and 455 at 104 weeks. As the sample studied at 104 weeks was only 68.4% of the cohort at 13 weeks this group was also examined in more detail to determine whether it was representative of the larger samples. The proportions of the three solid feeding groups were similar to that of the 13 week sample 9.8% v 8.8%, 49.8% v 49.0%, and 40.4% v 40.2% and the association between rows and columns was not significant. Multiple regression analysis of the 450 infants who were followed up for 104 weeks, demonstrated a similar pattern of relationships between solid feeding and illnesses (Appendices 4.2.iii.c,d,e) but the levels of significance were less than that of the larger samples - for respiratory illness (14-26 weeks, p<0.05) and persistent cough (14-26 weeks, p=0.2; 27-39 weeks, p=0.06). The pattern for solid feeding and eczema was similar, and the negative associations to the other outcomes present were confirmed. The 104 week sample was therefore considered to be representative of the larger study groups.

	SEX			SOCIAL CLAS	S
	W	۴ų	I, II	III	IV, V
SOLIDS:					
Before 8 wks	38(11.9)	27 (7.7)	9 (4.7)	37(11.5)	17(11.9)
8-12 wks	171(53.4)	161(45.9)	75(39.2)	166(51.4)	83(57.2)
After 12 wks	111(34.7)	163(46.4)	107(56.1)	120(37.1)	45(31.1)
Total	320	351	191	323	145
	x ² 10.6	P < 0.005	x ² 27.75	P < 0.0001	

<u>Relationship of time of introduction of solids to sex of infant and social class</u> Table 8

		FEEDING CA	TEGORY		
	П	II	III	IV	ጥ ጥ ል ፒ.
	Breas [.] Full	t Fed Partial	Early Weaners	Bottle Fed	
OLIDS:					
Before 8 wks	0	7(5.3)	19(10.6)	39(14.8)	65(9.7)
8-12 wks	0	78(60)	98(54.4)	156(59.1)	332(49.5)
After 12 wks	97(100)	45(34.7)	63(35)	69(26.1)	274(40.8)
otal	97(100)	130(100)	180(100)	264(100)	671(100)
X ² refers to group therefore 4 degree	s II, III, IV s of freedom.	and	,X*	2 10.96	p = 0.03

feed	
f milk	
type o	
ţ	
solids	
of	
introduction	
of	
time	
of	
<u>Relationship</u>	
Table 9.	

DOMTNANI		CASEIN DO	MINANT FOR	MULA (CD)		WHEY
						FORMULA
(MD)	IL	ME OF CHANG	E FROM WD	FORMULA (WI	(S)	
	<1	1-3	4-7	8-12	>12	
SOLIDS:						
Before 8 wks	7(28)	3(16.6)	6(14.3)	7(18.9)	5(11.4)	11(11.2)
8-12 wks	12(48)	11(61.1)	25(59.5)	25(67.6)	28(63.6)	55(56.1)
After 12 wks	6(24)	24(22.2)	11(26.2)	5(13.5)	11(25)	32(32.6)
Totals	25	38	42	37	44	98
				x ²	11.3 (10 df) p = 0.3

Table 10 Relationship of type of infant formula to timing of introduction of solids.

				Birth We:	ight ((£		
	2,500 n	0-2,999 (%)	3,000 n)-3,499 (%)	3,50 n	0-3,999 (%)	4,000 n	(%) +
SOLIDS:								
Before 8 wks	ω	(8.2)	21	(7.8)	28	(11.7)	8 (12	.1)
8-12 wks	49	(20)	130	(48.5)	114	(47.7)	39 (59	.1)
After 12 wks	41	(41.8)	117	(43.7)	97	(40.6)	19 (28	.8)
Total	86		268		239	_	66	
CD FORMULA:					x ² 7	- d 0.	0.32 (6	df)
Before 8 wks	8	(19)	35	(31.9)	26	(21.7)	16 (53	.3)
After 8 wks	10	(23.8)	37	(32.7)	28	(34.1)	6 (20	(0.
Always WD formula	24	(57.2)	38	(35.4)	28	(34.1)	8 (26	(7.
Total	42		110		82		30	
					X ² 1	4.6 p =	0.02 (6	df)
Table 11 <u>Relationship of introduct</u> <u>weight</u>	tion	of solids	and t	vpe of in	fant f	<u>ormula to</u>	o birth	

		AGE OF IN'	TRODUCTION OF SOLI	DS (WEEKS)			
AGE UF LI (WEEK	S)	<٦	8-12	>12	<7 v 8-12	<7 v >12	8-12 v >12
ω	(4	5110 996 to 5223)	5087 (5036 to 5138)	4960 (4905 to 5015)	0.72	0.02	0.0009
13	(6	6051 190 to 5911)	5972 (5988 to 6035)	5779 (5712 to 5845)	0.31	0.0006	<0.0001
26	(7	7781 580 to 7983)	7692 (7602 to 7782)	7418 (7322 to 7514)	0.48	0.005	0.0003
52	19)	10007 742 to 10271)	9900 (9777 to 10024)	9691 (9559 to·9822)	0.47	0.04	0.03
104	(12	12550 130 to 12982)	12644 (12455 to 12833)	12520 (12320 to 12720)	0.71	>0.8	0.37
Table 12	<u>Relati</u> introo	onship of weic luction of sol	tht (g)* (95% CI) (ids.	of infants during	first 2 yea	rs of life	to age of

* Weights adjusted for maternal height, birth weight, gestation and type of milk feed, and other variables (see text).

		AGE OF IN	TRODUCTION OF SOLI	IDS (WEEKS)			
AGE UF IN (WEEKS	FANT <	<7	8-12	>12	<7 v 8-12	<7 v >12	8-12 v >12
ω	51 (5346 t	199 :o 5052)	5102 (5167 to 5037)	4971 (5039 to 4902)	0.24	0.007	0.007
13	60 (6275 t)97 :0 5919)	5975 (6055 to 5895)	5824 (5908 to 5739)	0.22	0.008	0.01
26	78 (8126 t	366 20 7605)	7670 (7781 to 7591)	7480 (7597 to 7362)	0.17	0.008	0.02
52	10 (10352	029 to 9706)	9877 (10024 to 9730)	9767 (9922 to 9612)	0.4	0.15	0.31
104	12 (12981 t	556 50 12130)	12643 (12831 to 12454)	12519 (12719 to 12319)	0.71	>0.8	0.37
Шаћјо 13	Hourite Lod	in of woi	~b+ /~)+ /058 /T)	of 202 infants	40	+	+ imo

Relationship of Weight (9)* (95% CI) of 392 infants measured at each of the time periods during the first 2 years of life to age of introduction of solids. Table 13

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLID		x ² for
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	8>	8-12	>12	adjusted rates
0-13	8(12.3, 5.7)	53(8.5, 9.1)	30(9.7, 10.4)	2.33
14-26	15(23.4, 20.7)	54(16.5, 15.8)	30(11.3, 12.9)	2.19
27-39	10(16.1, 13.1)	60(18.5, 15.9)	50(19.2, 23.2)	5.05
40-52	9(15.0, 12.2)	56(17.7, 15.6)	40(15.6, 18.7)	1.66
53-104	17(42.5, 41.6)	116(52.0, 50.9)	79(41.1, 42.6)	2.7

of infants with gastrointestina	lids.
adjusted percentages)	of introduction of sol
s (percentages and	s according to age
Table 14 Numbers	illness

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLI	DS (WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<٦	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
0-13	27(41.5, 36.1)	101(30.5, 29.1)	83(30.9, 33.9)	1.9
14-26	35(54.7, 52.0)	153(46.8, 46.9)	96(36.1, 36.6)	6.3*
27-39	34(54.8, 54.1)	158(48.8, 47.8)	107(41.0, 42.4)	2.6
40-52	31(51.7, 50.0)	156(49.2, 48.6)	112(43.6, 44.7)	0.8
53-104	33(82.5, 82.0)	194(87.0, 86.0)	149(77.6, 78.9)	2.7
*	x ² (1 df)	Q	Difference %	95% CI
<7 v 8-12 <7 v >12 8-12 v >12	0.3 4.4 6.18	0.57 0.04 0.01	4.7 15.2 10.5	-8.6-18.2 1.9-28.5 2.5-18.4

Table 15 Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants with respiratory illness according to age of introduction of solids.

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLID	S (WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<7	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
0-13 14-26 27-39 40-52 53-104	8(12.3, 10.7) 16(25.0, 23.3) 19(30.6, 29.2) 9(15.0, 12.8) 18(45.0, 43.2)	28(8.5, 8.0) 57(17.4, 17.5) 58(17.9, 16.8) 66(20.8, 19.4) 102(45.7, 44.4)	26(9.7, 10.7) 30(11.3, 11.7) 30(11.5, 13.2) 37(14.4, 16.7) 68(35.4, 36.8)	1.3 5.06+ 7.36* 1.87 2.1
14-26	X ² (1 df)	Q	Difference %	958 CI
<7 v 8-12 <7 v >12 8-12 v >12	0.91 4.97 3.36	0.34 0.03 0.06	6.0 11.7 5.7	-4-16 2.2-21.2 -0.03-11.5
27-39 <7 v 8-12 <7 v >12 8-12 v >12	4.4 8.2 1.2	0.04 0.004 0.28	12.3 15.9 3.6	1.7-22.9 5.7-26.1 -2.3-9.5
Table 16 <u>N</u> ı	umbers (percentage	s and adjusted percent	ages) of infants	with persistent cough

sistent c	
with per	
infants	
of	
percentages)	f solids.
adjusted	duction o
and	ntro
(percentages	g to age of i
Numbers	accordin
16	
ble	

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLID	S (WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<i>د</i> ۲	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
<u>Wheeze</u>				
0-13	1(1.5, 1.0)	6(1.8, 1.4)	4(1.5, 2.2)	0.72
14-26	3(4.7, 3.6)	16(4.9, 4.2)	10(3.8, 4.9)	0.23
27-39	3(4.8, 4.2)	21(6.5, 5.8)	9(3.4, 4.5)	0.54
40-52	2(3.3, 2.6)	16(5.0, 4.4)	9(3.5, 4.4)	0.56
53-104	3(7.5, 6.5)	32(14.3, 14.5)	18(9.4, 9.4)	2.1

Table 17 <u>Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants with wheeze</u> according to age of introduction of solids.

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLIDS	(WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<٦	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
0-13	8(12.3, 10.7)	68(20.5, 19.5)	42(15.6, 17.2)	3.38
14-26	11(17.2, 15.6)	61(18.7, 18.2)	26(9.8, 10.7)	5.05
27-39	9(14.5, 13.8)	42(13.0, 11.9)	23(8.8, 10.3)	0.61
40-52	4(6.7, 5.9)	42(13.2, 12.3)	22(8.6, 9.9)	2.76
53-104	4(10.0, 10.6)	39(17.5, 17.5)	39(20.3, 20.2)	1.91

Table 18 Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants with napkin dermatitis according to age of introduction of solids.

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLID	S (WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<7	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
Eczema				
0-13	1(1.5, 1.2)	12(3.6, 3.5)	8(3.0, 3.2)	0.72
14-26	3(4.7, 4.0)	19(5.8, 5.2)	9(3.4, 4.2)	0.37
27-39	1(1.6, 1.8)	18(5.6, 5.6)	15(5.7, 5.6)	1.8
40-52	1(1.7, 1.7)	19(6.0, 6.6)	10(3.9, 3.1)	4.3
53-104	2(5.0, 5.4)	36(16.1, 17.0)	18(9.4, 8.3)	7.5*
	*8-12	v >12 X ² (1 df) 5.8,	p=0.02. Diff 8.4%	95% CI 2-15%

Table 19 Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants with eczema according to age of introduction of solids.
4.2.iv DISCUSSION

This study confirms the findings of previous reports⁶⁶, and demonstrates that many parents are not taking advantage of professional advice on when to introduce solid foods to their infants. Parents may be perceiving that early solid feeding is beneficial to their infant and therefore for the professional message to be accepted further data on the effects of early solid feeding are required. The principal aim of this study was to determine if the early introduction to solid foods was harmful to the infant and in particular whether these infants are at increased risk of excessive weight gain, gastrointestinal illness and allergic disease.

Early studies of the relation between early solid feeding and weight gain indicated that weight gain was increased in the early solid feeding group ^{67,68}, but this has not been confirmed in recent studies^{71,72,73}. Weight gain is influenced by a number of different demographic and nutritional factors and failure to give adequate consideration to these may explain the conflicting results. In this study potential growth factors such as maternal height, socio-economic status, sex of infant, birth weight, and type of milk feed were recorded and their relationship to early solid feeding examined.

Several of the demographic and nutritional findings in this study were similar to previous reports⁶⁶. Solids

were introduced earlier for boys and for infants from the lower socio-economic groups and infants who were bottle fed were more likely to receive solids at an earlier stage. We were unable to support the previous evidence⁶⁶ that solids are given earlier to infants who are receiving casein-dominant as opposed to whey-dominant formulas. Although infants of heavier birth weight were more frequently changed to a less modified caseindominant formula, the early introduction of solids was not shown to be more common in this group.

These, and other variables which were thought to be potential factors influencing weight gain during the first two years of life, were included in the regression Factors which had an independent significant analysis. effect on weight gain were maternal height, sex of infant, birth weight, type of milk feed and early solid After adjustment for these confounding feeding. variables, early solid feeding was shown to have a significantly positive effect on weight gain at 8, 13, The effect had greatly reduced by 52 and 26 weeks. weeks and was not significant at 104 weeks. Thus, the early introduction of solids may have an initial impact on the weight gain of the infant but this is not sustained during the second year of life. It would therefore seem unlikely that early solid feeding places the child at increased risk of excessive weight gain in later childhood. In support of this, a recent study has

shown that energy intakes are not significantly altered by the introduction of solids as the infant appears to reduce milk volume in order to maintain a similar caloric intake⁸⁰. It has even been suggested that the early introduction of solids may reduce the risk of obesity, a recent report demonstrating that adiposity at 6 years of age was associated with late introduction of solids and prolonged breast feeding⁸¹.

The incidence of gastrointestinal illness was similar within the three solid feeding groups and this finding persisted after adjustment for the confounding variables maternal age, socio-economic group and type of milk feed. This suggests that although there may be theoretical reasons for infants not being able to tolerate solids in the first few months of life 82 , in practice there is no significant gastrointestinal upset. The incidence of chronic diarrhoeal illness in our cohort was too small for proper analysis but there was no difference between the early and late solid feeding groups. In Third World countries several studies have demonstrated increased gastro-intestinal infection in infants receiving early solid feeding⁶⁹ and this is thought to be related to inadequate sanitation conditions, poor nutritional status and poor quality solid foods. These conditions do not apply to the vast majority of infants in a developed society. In our previous report on this cohort⁷⁹, breast feeding for at least 13 weeks was shown to result in a

significant reduction in episodes of gastrointestinal illness during the first year of life. This did not imply exclusive breast feeding as the low incidence of gastrointestinal disease was seen in both the exclusively breast fed and the partially breast fed groups. In the latter group, 65% of infants received solids before 13 weeks of age. This data supports the view that early solids do not increase the risk of gastrointestinal illness and that the continuation of breast feeding is the most vital protective factor against gastrointestinal infection.

The incidence of respiratory illness was increased at 14-26 weeks in early solid feeding infants. Respiratory illness included the symptoms coryza, wheeze and persistent cough. Analysis of the latter two more serious symptoms showed that persistent cough was increased at 14-26 and 27-39 weeks, but wheeze was not influenced by the early introduction of solids. Respiratory illness in early childhood has been shown to be associated with environmental factors such as parental smoking⁸⁵ and poor social conditions⁸⁶; adjustments were made for these confounding variables, and the association between early solid feeding and respiratory symptoms persisted. Whether the respiratory symptoms are a consequence of an atopic reaction or are due to recurrent infection cannot be answered by this study. An atopic element may become more apparent with longer term followup and this will be undertaken. Fergusson did not find a significant relationship between early solid feeding and the development of childhood asthma when he followedup his cohort to the age of 4 years⁷⁷.

In our earlier study we found that breast feeding for 13 weeks reduced the incidence of respiratory illness during the first 13 weeks of life but not thereafter. Data from this study indicates that by delaying the introduction of solids until after 12 weeks a further reduction in the incidence of respiratory illness will be achieved during the periods of 14-26 and 27-39 weeks.

The findings from our study showed an inconsistent relationship between early solid feeding and the incidence of eczema. Surprisingly, we found that eczema was less common in the 0-7 week solid feeding group and most common in the 8-12 week solid feeding group. Theoretically this could be explained on the basis of animal experimental work which has shown that hypersensitivity reactions precipitated by large antigenic loads are less extensive than hypersensitivity reactions precipitated by small antigenic stimuli⁸⁴. In the newborn infant there is a gradual decrease in intestinal permeability during the first weeks of life⁸². and therefore the antigenic load capable of being transported across the intestinal wall will be less in infants starting solids at 8-12 weeks. The effect of

very early versus early solids cannot elicited from the data from Fergusson and colleagues^{75,76} as they defined early solid feeding as before 4 months and details of the solid feeding pattern within this time period are not available.

Further follow-up of this cohort may allow clarification of this issue as the prevalence of eczema and other allergic disorders peak in later childhood⁸³. Fergusson and colleagues⁷⁷ have now followed-up their study group for 10 years and confirmed their earlier report which highlighted the association of early solid feeding and $eczema^{76}$.

4.3 CONCLUSION

This study concludes that many infants are receiving solids within the first three months of life but this feeding practice is not associated with excessive weight gain during the second year of life or an increased incidence of gastrointestinal illness during the first two years of life. The incidence of respiratory illness was increased at 14-26 weeks and persistent cough at 14-26 and 27-39 weeks in early solid feeding infants. The incidence of wheeze and napkin dermatitis was not related to the time of introduction of solids and the data relating early solid feeding to eczema was inconclusive. Longer term follow-up is required. Parents who wish to introduce solids before 13 weeks can be informed that early solid feeding is associated with an increased risk of respiratory illness during the first 9 months of life. If infants are breast fed for 13 weeks, and solids are delayed until after 12 weeks, there will be a significant reduction in gastrointestinal and respiratory illness during the first year of life.

CHAPTER FIVE

FINAL CONCLUSIONS

This Thesis has addressed issues which in the nutritional management of the newborn infant have stimulated debate and uncertainty over many years.

The actiology of Breast Milk Jaundice was investigated by the novel approach of determining whether bile salts in breast milk could be interacting with the enzyme bile-salt stimulated lipase. The studies show for the first time that bile salts are present in breast milk. The significance of this finding requires further investigation particularly regarding possible intramammary The findings from the studies refute previous activity. claims of the role of increased lipase activity and elevated free fatty acid concentrations in the aetiology of Breast Milk Jaundice. Marked intra- and inter variation in free fatty acid concentration is noted in normal and jaundice milks. The mechanism of this is uncertain but an intra-mammary interaction between bile salts and the enzyme bile-salt stimulated lipase cannot be excluded and requires further investigation.

The controversial issue of the most appropriate time to introduce solid foods was addressed. In order to define the specific effect of early solid feeding on infant health, particular attention was paid to the many confounding variables which could influence the identified The study concludes that many infants are outcomes. receiving solids within the first three months of life but there is no evidence to suggest that this causes excessive weight gain or gastro-intestinal illness. The incidence of respiratory illness was increased at 14-26 weeks and persistent cough at 14-26 and 27-39 weeks. The incidence of wheeze and napkin dermatitis was not related to the time of introduction of solids and the data relating solid feeding to eczema was inconclusive. Longer term follow-Parents who wish to introduce solids up is required. before 13 weeks can be informed that early solid feeding is associated with an increased risk of respiratory illness during the first year of life. Parents should also be informed that breast feeding for 13 weeks will not only further reduce the frequency of respiratory illness but also reduce the risk of gastrointestinal illness.

With an increasing volume of evidence emphasising the need for optimum nutrition in order to achieve normal growth and development in the preterm infant, there is an urgent requirement for more specific nutritional data on the sick ventilated infant. A non-invasive, precise and accurate system for measurement of energy expenditure in these infants has been developed. Initial data indicates that energy expenditure in this group of infants may be less

than speculated and the energy/protein mix in nutritional regimes for these infants may be inappropriate. The described indirect calorimetry system will be used in combination with stable isotope studies to provide more specific nutrient turnover data. The ultimate aim is to develop feeding regimes which will not exacerbate respiratory failure and will enable normal nutrient accretion and growth for these vulnerable infants.

As stated in the general introduction, nutritional research tends to raise more questions than provide unequivocal answers and undoubtedly this is reflected in this Thesis. However, an attempt has been made to provide original data from which further progress can be made in advancing our knowledge and understanding of nutritional metabolism in the term and preterm infant.

REFERENCES

- Forsyth D. The history of infant feeding from Elizabethan Times. Proc Roy Soc Med 1911;4:110-41.
- Lucas A, Morley R, Cole TJ, Gore SM, Davis JA, Bamford MFM, Dossetor JFB. Early diet in preterm babies and developmental status in infancy. Arch Dis Child 1989;64:1570-1578.
- 3. Lucas A. Does early nutrition programme long-term outcome? Guest Lecture, 63rd Annual Meeting, British Paediatric Association, University of Warwick, April 1991.
- Barker DJP, Winter PD, Osmond C. Weight in infancy and death from ischaemic heart disease. Lancet 1989;ii:577-80.
- Barker DJP. The intrauterine origins of cardiovascular and obstructive lung disease in adult life. J Roy Col Phys Lond 1991;25:129-33.
- Anonymous. Scottish Neonatal Statistics 1985.
 Information Services Division. Common Services
 Agency. Scottish Health Service.

- 7. Marlow N, D'Souza SW, Chiswick ML. Neurodevelopmental outcome in babies weighing less than 2001g at birth. Br Med J 1987;294:1582-1586.
- Scottish Low Birthweight Study. Social Paediatric and Obstetric Research Unit, University of Glasgow. September 1989.
- 9. Tarnow Mordi WO, Ogston SA, Reid B, Wilkinson AR. Predicting death from initial disease severity in very low birthweight infants: a method for comparing performance of neonatal units. Br Med J 1990;300:1611-4.
- 10. Gill A, Yu VYH, Bajuk B, Astbury J. Postnatal growth in infants born before 30 weeks gestation. Arch Dis Child 1986;61:549-553.
- 11. Kelly FJ, Fussel J, Postle AD. The role of nutrition in the growth and repair of the immature lung. Abstract. Annual Meeting of British Paediatric Association. April 1991.
- 12. Reichman B, Chessex P, Verellen G, Putet G, Smith JM, Heini T, Swyer PRP. Dietary composition of macronutrient storage in preterm infants. Pediatrics 1983;72:322-28.

- 13. Weir JB de V. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol 1949;109:1-9.
- 14. Westenskow DR, Schipke CA, Raymond JL, Saffle JR, Becker JM, Young EW, Cutler CA. Calculation of metabolic expenditure and substrate utilisation from gas exchange measurements. JPEN 1988;12:20-24.
- 15. Wharton BA. Nutrition and feeding of preterm infants. Blackwell Scientific Publications, Oxford. 1987.
- 16. Pineault M, Chessez P, Bisaillon S, Brisson G. Total parenteral nutrition in the newborn: impact of the quality of infused energy on nitrogen metabolism. Am J Clin Nutr 1988;47:298-304.
- 17. Stoner HB. Why is energy expenditure increased by trauma and sepsis? Care of the Critically Ill 1987;3:108-109.
- 18. Yeh MP, Gardner RM, Adams TD, Yanowitz FG. Computerized determination of pneumotachometer characteristics using a calibrated syringe. J Appl Physiol: Respirat. Environ. Exercise Physiol. 1982;53:280-285.
- 19. Lucas A, Nohria V, Roberts SB. Measurement of carbon

dioxide production rate in sick ventilated premature infants. Biol Neonate 1987;51:138-43.

- 20. Cartlidge PHT, Rutter N. Percutaneous carbon dioxide excretion in the newborn infant. Early Hum Dev 1990;21:93-103.
- 21. Hammerlund K, Sedin G. Can respiratory water loss and oxygen consumption be measured accurately during ventilator and CPAP treatment. Paediatr Res 1990;
- 22. Askanazi J, Rosenbaum SH, Hyman AI, Silverberg PA, Milic-Emili J, Kinney JM. Respiratory changes induced by the large glucose loads of total parenteral nutrition. JAMA 1980;243:1444-1447.
- 23. Cooke RWI. Factors associated with chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Arch Dis Child 1991;66;776-9.
- 24. Hammerman C, Aramburo MJ. Decreased lipid intake reduces morbidity in sick premature neonates. J Pediatr 1988;113:1083-8.
- 25. Pereira GR, Fox WW, Stanley CA, Barker L, Schwartz JG. Decreased oxygenation and hyperlipaemia during intravenous fat infusions in premature infants.

Pediatrics 1980;66:26-30.

- 26. Sosenko IRS, Innis SM, Frank L. Intralipid increases lung polyunsaturated fatty acids and protects newborn rats from oxygen toxicity. Pediatr Res 1991;30:413-7.
- 27. Gilbertson N, Kovar IZ, Cox DJ, Crowe L Palmer NT. Introduction of intravenous lipid administration on the first day of life in the vey low birthweight neonate. J Pediatr 1991;119:615-23.
- 28. Pencharz P, Duffy B. The effect of feeding route (iv or oral) on the protein metabolism of the neonate. Am J Clin Nutr 1986;43:108-11.
- 29. Mitton SG, Calder AG, Garlick PJ. Protein turnover rates in sick, premature neonates during the first few days of life. Pediatr Res 1991;30:418-22.
- 30. Arias IM, Gartner LM, Seifter S. Neonatal unconjugated hyperbilirubinaemia associated with breast feeding and a factor in milk that inhibits glucuronide formation in vitro. Paper presented at 55th annual meeting of American Society of Clinical Investigation, Atlanta City, NJ. April 29, 1963.
- 31. Clarkson JE, Cowan JO, Herbison GP. Jaundice in full

term healthy neonates - a population study. Aust Paediatr J 1984;20:303-8.

- 32. Hargreaves T. The effect of fatty acids on bilirubin conjugation. Arch Dis Child 1973; 48: 446-50.
- 33. Bevan BR, Holton JB. Inhibition of bilirubin conjugation in rat liver slices by free fatty acids with relevance to the problem of breast milk jaundice. Clin Chim Acta 1972; 41: 101-107.
- 34. Odievre M, Levillain P, Luzeau R. Effect of fatty acids on bilirubin conjugation. Arch Dis Child 1973; 48: 984.
- 35. Luzeau R, Odievre M, Levillain P. Activite de la lipoproteine lipase dans les laits de femme inhibiteurs in vitro de la conjugaison de la bilirubine. Clin Chim Acta 1975;59:133-8.
- 36. Odievre M. Breast feeding and neonatal hyperbilirubinaemia. In. Berenberg SR (Ed) Liver Diseases of Infancy and Childhood. The Hague, Martinus Niijhoff Medical Division, 1976, p34.
- 37. Constantopoulos A, Messaritakis J, Matsaniotis N. Breast milk jaundice; the role of lipoprotein lipase

and the free fatty acids. Eur J. Pediatr 1980; 134: 35-38.

- 38. Poland RL, Schultz GE, Garg A. High milk lipase activity associated with breast milk jaundice. Pediatr Res 1980; 14: 1328-1331.
- 39. Poland RL. Breast milk jaundice (Editorial). J Pediatr 1981; 99: 86-88.
- 40 Baquir YA, Murison J, Ross PE, Bouchier IAD. Radioimmunoassay of primary bile salts in serum. J Clin Path 1979; 32: 560-564.
- 41. Catz CS, Giacoia GP. Drugs and breast milk. Paediatric Clinics of North America 1972;19:151-62.
- 42. Schiff ER, Small NC, Dietschy JM. Characterisation of the kinetics of the passive and active transport mechanisms for bile acid absorption in the small intestine and the colon of the rat. J Clin Invest 1972;51:1351-1362.
- 43. Watkins JB. Mechanisms of fat absorption and the development of the gastrointestinal function. In:Grant RJ, Watkins JB (eds) Gastrointestinal and liver disease. WB Saunders, Philadelphia.

Pediatric Clinics of North America 1975;22:721-730.

- 44. Hernell O, Olivecrona T. Human milk lipases. III. Physiological implications of the bile salt-stimulated lipase. Eur J Clin Invest 1975;5:267-272.
- 45. Forsyth JS, Ross PE, Bouchier IAD. Bile salts in breast milk. Eur J Pediatr 1983;140:126-127.
- 46. Pennington CR, Ross PE, Bouchier IAD. Serum bile acids in the diagnosis of hepatobiliary disease. Gut 1977;18:903-908.
- 47. Mehta NR, Jones JB, Hamosh M. Lipases in preterm human milk: Ontogeny and physiologic significance. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1982;1:317-326.
- 48. Belfrage P, Vaughan M. Simple liquid liquid partition system for isolation of labelled oleic acid from mixtures with glycerides. J Lipid Res 1969;10:341-344.
- 49. Hernell O, Gebre-Medhin, Olivecrona T. Breast milk composition in Ethiopian and Swedish mothers. IV Milk Lipases. Am J Clin Nutr 1977;30:508-511.
- 50. Hall B, Muller DPR. Studies on the bile salt stimulated lipolytic activity of human milk using

whole milk as source of both substrate and enzyme. I. Nutritional implications. Pediatr Res 1982;6:251-255.

- 51. Brown PB, Clark RM, Hundrieser KE, Ferris AM, Jensen RG. Bile salt-stimulated lipase in human milk from 2 to 16 weeks post-partum. Lipids 1983;18:393-396.
- 52. Bitman J, Wood DL, Hamosh M, Hamosh P, Mehta NR. Comparison of the lipid composition of breast milk from the mothers of term and preterm infants. Am J Clin Nutr 1983;38:300-12.
- 53. Bitman J, Wood LD, Mehta NR, Hamosh P, Hamosh M. Lipolysis of triglycerides of human milk during storage at low temperatures: A note of caution. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1983;2:521-524.
- 54. Chappell JE, Clandinin MT, McVey MA, Chance GW. Free fatty acid content of human milk: Physiologic significance and artifactual determinants. Lipids 1985;4:216-221.
- 55. Freed LM, Moscioni D, Hamosh M, Gartner LM, Hamosh P. Breast milk jaundice re-visited : No role for Bglucuronidase or "unstimulated" lipase. Pediatr Res 1987;21:267A.

- 56. Hamosh M. Enzymes in milk: Their function in the mammary gland, in milk and in the infant. In. Biology of Human Milk (Ed) Hanson LA, Nestle Nutrition Workshop Series. Vol 15. Nestec Ltd, Vevey/Raven Press Ltd, New York 1988.
- 57. Hamosh M. Breast milk jaundice. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr 1990;11:145-6.
- 58. Hernell O. Human milk lipases. III. Physiological implications of the bile salt-stimulated lipase. Europ J Clin Invest 1975;5:267-272.
- 59. Finni K, Simila S, Koivisto M, Heikura S, Ala-Houhala M. Cholic acid, chenodeoxycholic acid, alpha-1fetoprotein and alpha-1-antitrypsin serum concentrations in breast fed infants with prolonged jaundice. Eur J Pediatr 1982;138:53-55.
- 60. Tazawa Y, Yamada M, Nakagawa M, Konno T, Tada K. Serum bile acids and their conjugates in breast-fed infants with prolonged jaundice. Eur J Pediatr 1985;144:37-40.
- 61. Present Day Practice in Infant Feeding. Report of a Working Party of the Panel of Child Nutrition

Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy. DHSS HMSO 1974.

- 62. Present Day Practice in Infant Feeding. Report of a Working Party of the Panel of Child Nutrition Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy. DHSS HMSO 1980.
- 63. Present Day Practice in Infant Feeding. Report of a Working Party of the Panel of Child Nutrition Committee on Medical Aspects of Food Policy. DHSS HMSO 1988.
- 64. ESPGAN Committee on Nutrition: Guidelines on Infant Nutrition. III Recommendations for infant feeding. Acta Paediatr Scand, suppl. 1982;302:1-27.
- 65. Committee on Nutrition, American Academy of Pediatrics: On the feeding of supplemental foods to infants. Pediatrics 1980;65:1178-81.
- 66. Martin J, White A. Infant Feeding. OPCS, HMSO 1985.
- 67. Shukla A, Forsyth HA, Anderson CM, Marwah SM. Infantile overnutrition in the first year of life: a field study in Dudley, Worcestershire. Br Med J

1972; iv: 507-515.

- 68. Taitz LS. Infantile overnutrition among artificially fed infants in the Sheffield region. Br Med J 1971;i:315-6.
- 69. Popkin BR, Adair L, Akin JS, Black R, Briscoe J, Flieger W. Breast feeding and diarrhoeal morbidity. Pediatrics 1990;86:874-882.
- 70. Taylor B, Norman AP, Orgel HA, Turner MW, Stokes CR, Soothill JF. Transient IgA deficiency and pathogenesis of infantile atopy. Lancet 1973;ii:111-113.
- 71. Thorogood M, Clark R, Harker P, Mann JL. Infant feeding and overweight in two Oxfordshire towns. J Roy Coll Gen Practit 1979;29:427-30.
- 72. Wilkinson PW, Davies DP. When and why are babies weaned. Br Med J 1978;1:1682-1683.
- 73. Van Asperen PP, Kemp AS, Mellis CM. Relationship of diet Agras WS, Kraemer HC, Berkowitz RI, Hammer LD. Influence of early feeding style on adiposity at 6 years of age. J Pediatr 1990;116:805-809.

74. Kramer MS. Does breast feeding help protect against

atopic disease? Biology, methodology, and a golden jubilee of controversy. J Pediatr 1988;112:181-90.

- 75. Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Beautrais AL, Shannon FT, Taylor B. Eczema and infant diet. Clin Allergy 1981;11:325-331.
- 76. Fergusson DM, Horwood J, Shannon FT. Early solid feeding and recurrent childhood eczema: a 10 year longitudinal study. Pediatrics 1990;86:541-546.
- 77. Fergusson DM, Horwood LJ, Shannon FT. Asthma and infant diet. Arch Dis Child 1983;58:48-51.
- 78. Chandra RK. Prospective studies of the effect of breastfeeding on incidence of infection and allergy. Acta Paediatr Scand 1979;68:691-694.
- 79. Howie PW, Forsyth JS, Ogston SA, Clark A, Florey C du
 V. Protective effect of breast feeding against infection. Br Med J 1990;300:11-16.
- 80. Stuff JE, Nichols BL, Nutrient intake and growth performance of older infants fed human milk. J Pediatr 1989;959-968.

81. Agras WS, Kraemer HC, Berkowitz RI, Hammer LD.

Influence of early feeding style on adiposity at 6 years of age. J Pediatr 1990; 116:805-809.

- 82. Milla PJ. The weanling's gut. Acta Paediatr Scand, Suppl. 1986;323:5-13.
- 83. Aberg N, Engstrom I. Natural history of allergic diseases in children. Acta Paediatr Scand 1990;79:206-11.
- 84. Jarrett E. Perinatal influence on IgE responses. Lancet 1984;2:797-9.

.

- 85. Cogswell JJ, Mitchell EB, Alexander J. Parental smoking, breast feeding and respiratory infection in development of allergic diseases. Arch Dis Child 1987;62:338-44.
- 86. Andrae S, Axelson O, Bjorksten B, Fredriksson M, Kjellman N-IM. Symptoms of bronchial hyperreactivity and asthma in relation to environmental factors. Arch Dis Child 1988;63:473-8.

LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix 3.2 iii a Bile salts in breast milk
 - iv a Bile salts in maternal serum
 - 3.3 iv a Bile salts, BSSL, and free fatty acids in normal milks
 - iv b Bile salts, BSSL, and free fatty
 acids in breast milk jaundice
 infants
 - 4.2 ii a Infant feeding questionnaire
 - ii b Infant feeding data sheet
 - ii c Infant illness data sheet
 - ii d Biological, socio-economic and environmental data sheet
 - iii a Analysis of variance of potential variables on weight gain
 - iii b Effect on weight (g) of timing of introduction of solids

- iii c Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants followed up for 104 weeks with respiratory illness according to age of introduction of solids.
- iii d Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants followed up for 104 weeks with persistent cough according to age of introduction of solids.
- iii e Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants followed up for 104 weeks with eczema according to age of introduction of solids.

.

Data File 1. Bile salts in breast milk

	Cheno umol/l	Cholate umol/l
Sample 1	0.14	0.72
2	0.10	0.67
3	0.09	0.50
4	0.06	1.03
5	0.14	0.56
6	0.30	0.82
7	0.22	0.62
8	0.24	0.94
9	0.52	1.93
10	0.37	1.58
11	1.50	2.50
12	0.23	2.24
13	0.58	2.86
14	0.15	0.44
15	0.11	0.61
16	0.17	1.14
17	0.74	0.94
18	0.02	0.41
19	0.31	0.34
20	0.42	0.49
21	0.29	0.66
22	0.03	0.49
23	0.16	0.82
24	0.17	0.34
25	0.05	0.42
26	0.07	0.31
27	0.05	0.29
28	0.09	0.45

APPENDIX 3.2(iv a)

.

Date File 2. Bile salts in maternal serum

	Cheno umol/l	Cholate umol/l
Sample 1	0.94	0.65
2	1.36	0.70
3	1.81	1.92
4	0.42	0.61
5	1.68	2.17
6	0.39	0.51
7	1.32	1.37
8	0.41	0.32
9	0.25	0.95
10	0.34	0.64
11	0.66	0.83
12	0.69	0.44

APPENDIX 3.3(iv a) STUDY OF RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BILE SALTS, BSSL AND FREE FATTY ACIDS IN BREAST MILK OF NORMAL INFANTS AND INFANTS WITH BREAST MILK JAUNDICE

Normal milks Data File 1. 2 weeks 6 weeks 10 weeks 14 weeks .न

iv)

	Cheno umol/l	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipa pH7.4	ase pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/l
Sample						
1(i) 1(ii) 1(iii)	0.12 0.23	0.68 0.87	5.67 3.78	136.00	22.50	1.78
2(i) 2(ii)	0.15 0.29	1.64 0.83	10.93 2.86	7.50		2.34
3(i)	0.22	0.46	2.09	120.00	42.00	
3(11) 3(iii)	0.19	0.36	0.00 1.89	14.00	4.50	1.02
4(i) 4(ii)	0.17 0.25	0.35 0.70	2.06 2.80	28.50 23.50	30.50 18.00	7.51
5(i)	0.04	0.21	5.25	26.00	18.00	
6(i)	0.20	0.64	3.20	49.50	26.00	2.75

CONTINUED
Q
(iv
m
•
ε
ENDIX
H.

APPENDIX 3.3(iv a) CONTINUEI	0				
	Cheno umol/l	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lip pH7.4	ase pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/l
Sample						
7(i) 7(ii) 7(ii)	0.21 0.19 0.15	0.51 0.30 0.44	2.43 2.79 2.93	115.00 62.50	49.00 28.50 19.50	1.78
8(i) 8(ii)	0.42 0.15	0.57 0.56	1.36 3.73	11.50	8.00 4.50	2.73 2.02
9(i)	0.15	0.49	3.27	7.00	22.50	2.51
10(i) 10(ii)	0.19 0.10	0.40 0.45	2.11 4.50	0.00	0.50	1.26 2.45
11(i) 11(ii)	0.20 0.13	0.51 0.30	2.55 2.31	0.00 4.50	14.50 13.00	5.03 3.00
12(i) 12(ii)	0.22 0.13	0.56 0.38	2.55 2.92	0.00	46.50 0.50	1.47 1.69
13(i) 13(ii)	0.28 0.17	0.84 0.38	3.00 2.24	0.00	0.00 4.50	1.67 0.27
14(i)	0.16	0.56	3.50	7.00	18.00	1.47
15(i)	0.10	0.49	4.90	141.00	57.00	
16(i)	0.14	0.45	3.21	141.00	47.30	1.33

CONTINUED
(iv a)
3.3(
APPENDIX

Sample 17(i) 0.25 0.51 2.04 100.00 2.50 1.01 17(ii) 0.17 0.17 0.38 2.24 158.00 38.00 1.01 17(iv) 0.12 0.38 1.79 40.50 38.00 1.01 17(iv) 0.25 0.36 1.44 59.50 26.00 38.00 1.01 18(i) 1.57 2.87 1.83 115.00 42.50 0.78 0.17 19(i) 0.25 0.47 1.88 15.00 30.50 0.17 19(iv) 0.226 0.47 1.88 136.00 30.50 0.17 19(iv) 0.22 0.47 1.88 136.00 45.00 41.13 20(i) 0.22 0.47 1.88 136.00 26.00 2.54 21(i) 0.22 0.47 1.88 136.00 2.54 2.54 21(i) 0.23 0.52 0.46 1.76 2.54 2.54 <tr< td=""><td></td><td>Cheno umol/l</td><td>Cholate umol/l</td><td>Ratio</td><td>Lipa pH7.4</td><td>ase pH8.6</td><td>Fatty acid mmol/l</td></tr<>		Cheno umol/l	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipa pH7.4	ase pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/l
	Sample						
	17(i) 17(ii)	0.25 0.17	0.51 0.38	2.04 2.24	100.00 158.00	2.50 38.00	1.01
	17(iii) 17(iv)	0.19 0.25	0.34 0.36	1.79 1.44	40.50 59.50	30.50 26.00	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	18(i) 18(ii)	1.57 0.61	2.87 0.78	1.83 1.28	115.00 45.00	42.50 30.50	0.78 0.20
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	19(i) 19(ii)	0.23 0.25	0.47 0.47	2.04 1.88 1.62	64.00 136.00 64.00	45.00 30.50 21.00	0.17
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	19(iv)	0.22	0.58	2.64	64.00	6.50	6.58
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	20(i) 20(ii)	0.32 0.22	0.65 0.40	2.03 1.82	45.00 18.50	26.00 16.50	2.54 4.13
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	21(i) 21(ii)	0.23 0.25	0.52 0.44	2.26 1.76	100.00 66.50	33.00 59.50	1.34 2.18
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	22(i)	0.21	0.64	3.05	62.50	33.00	1.19
	23(i) 23(ii) 23(iii) 23(iv)	0.14 0.18 0.14 0.16	0.44 0.79 0.39 0.35	3.14 4.39 2.79 2.19	26.00 45.00 36.00 14.00	7.00 18.50 18.50	1.95 3.41 2.23

	Cheno umol/1	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipe pH7.4	ise pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/1
Sample						
24(i)	0.17	0.40	2.35	26.00	23.50	
24(ii)	0.21	0.71	3.38	30.50	16.50	
24(iii) 24(iv)	0.14 0.12	0.34 0.27	2.43 2.25	28.50 0.00	18.50 0.00	2.14 5.09
75(1)	0_19	7 E U	1,79	47,50	11,50	1_32
25(11)	0.26	0.44	1.69	45.00	28.50	1
25(iv)	0.14	0.36	2.57	14.00	11.50	1.97
26(i)	3.13	3.75	1.20	170.00	71.50	
27(i)		0.12	0.60	28.50	18.50	1.81
27(ii)	0.39	0.68	1.74	36.00	30.50	8.26
28(i)				52.00	30.50	1.29
29(i)	0.42	0.84	2.00	7.00	18.50	1.53
30(i)	0.16	0.31	1.94	69.00	40.50	0.40
31(i)	0.13	0.39	3.00	69.00	30.50	
32(ii)	0.22	0.47	2.14	54.00	33.00	2.23
33(i)	0.22	0.38	1.73	62.50	33.00	0.08

APPENDIX 3.3(iv a) CONTINUED

CONTINUED
Ø
νi)
ŝ
~
~ ,
APPENDIX

	Cheno umol/1	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipe pH7.4	ase pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/1
Sample						
34(ii)	0.42	0.79	1.88	38.00	14.00	11.08
35(i) 35(ii)	0.09	0.35	3.89 1.29	78.50	33.00	14.90
35(iii) 35(iv)	0.13	0.94	4.57	33.00	23.50 16.50	2 5 6 1
36(i)	0.16	0.42	2.63	144.00	42.50	3.14
36(ii) 36(iii)	0.23 0.04	0.38 0.78	1.65 19.50	16.50 11.50	14.00 14.00	0.18 0.64
36(iv)	0.12	0.53	4.42	16.50	16.50	
37(i)	0.17	0.42	2.47	26.00	23.50	0.99
38(i) 38(ii)	0.19 0.32	0.49 0.13	2.58 1.34	16.50 66.50	18.50 33.00	0.98 1.49
39(i) 39/i)	0.22	0.43	1.95	59.50	36.00	0.54
39(iii)	0.16	0.64	4.00	8.00	11.50	1.12
40(i)	0.72	1.79	2.49	38.00	23.50	1.18
40(ii)	0.16	1.17	7.31	38.00	36.00	10.29
40(ill) 40(iv)	0.17	0.61 0.38	8.71 2.24	64.00 28.50	28.50 14.00	1.98 1.20

CONTINUED
σ
5
· –
~
(.)
•
m
ы
i i i
5
H
<u>A</u>
Ы
р
^

APPENDIX 3.3(iv	a) CONTINUED					
	Cheno umol/1	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipa pH7.4	ise pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/l
Sample						
41(i)	0.29	0.52	1.79	82.00	40.50	3.50
41(ii)	0.07	0.84	12.00	69.00	23.50	2.97
41(iii) 41	0.10	0.52	5.20	40.50	38.00	1.19
41(iv)	0.15	0.43	2.87	28.50	16.50	0.98
42(i)	0.30	0.91	3.03		49.50	0.70
42(ii)	0.16	0.55	3.44	64.00	26.00	0.76
42(iii)	0.06	0.53	8.83	64.00	26.00	2.70
42(iv)	0.15	0.39	2.60	8.00	8.00	1.05
43(i)	0.36	0.97	2.69	69.00	38.00	
43(ii)	0.16	0.42	2.63	71.50	42.50	
44(i)	0,20	0.40	2,00	71,50	30,50	
44(ii)	0.09	0.68	7.56	42.50	8.00	7.58
44(iii)	0.15	0.40	2.67	47.50	23.50	4.70
44(iv)	0.20	0.49	2.45	62.50	16.50	5.23
45(i)	0.23	0.45	1.97	28.50	11.50	3.62
45(ii)	0.09	0.71	7.89	14.00	14.00	
45(iii)	0.04	0.52	13.00	4.50	16.50	1.09
45(iv)	0.22	0.39	1.77	0.00	2.00	2.25

CONTINUED
a)
(iv
3.3
APPENDIX

a) CONTINUED	Cheno Cholate Lipase Fatty acid umol/l umol/l Ratio pH7.4 pH8.6 mmol/l		0.19 0.43 2.26 117.00 36.00 0.15 0.86 5.73 45.00 26.00 2.23 0.17 0.81 4.76 52.00 26.00 2.87 0.17 0.42 2.47 14.00 23.50 1.08
a) CONTINUED	Cheno Chol umol/l umo		0.19 0.15 0.17 0.17 0.0
APPENDIX 3.3(iv		Sample	46(i) 46(ii) 46(iii) 46(iv)

APPENDIX 3.3(iv b) A STUDY OF RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN BILE SALTS, BSSL AND FREE FATTY ACIDS IN BREAST MILK OF NORMAL INFANTS AND INFANTS WITH BREAST MILK JAUNDICE

Date File 2. Breast milk jaundice milks

	Cheno umol/l	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipa pH7.4	se pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/l
Sample						
1	0.22	0.65	2.95	49.50	21.00	1.82
2(i) 2(ii)	0.04	0.54	13.50	49.50 23.50	26.00 14.00	1.76 0.91
m	0.18	0.61	3.39	55.1	51.5	2.10
4	0.18	0.51	2.83	47.50	18.50	0.42
5	0.25	0.56	2.24	2.00	21.00	1.71
9	0.22	0.65	2.95	82.00	36.00	0.65
7	0.06	0.71	11.83	69.00	57.00	2.92
8(i)	insu	fficient milk				1.23
8(ii) 8(:::)	0.36	0.82	2.28	33.00	33.00	1.57
0(111) 8(iv)	0.04	0.60	15.00	11.50	14.00	2.80
6	0.30	0.83	2.77	38.00	16.50	0.84
10	0.13	0.71	5.46	69.00	30.50	2.53
CONTINUED						

q						
vi)						
3.3(
PENDIX						

APPENDIX 3.3(1	iv b) CONTINUEI	0				
	Cheno umol/1	Cholate umol/l	Ratio	Lipe pH7.4	ase pH8.6	Fatty acid mmol/l
Sample						
11(i) 11(ii) 11(iii)	0.10 0.15 0.17	0.65 0.47 0.36	6.50 3.13 2.12	69.00 172.00 64.00	30.50 47.50 26.00	1.96 1.38
12(i) 12(ii) 12(iii)	0.21 0.10 0.17	0.51 0.58 0.36	2.43 5.80 2.12	132.00 52.00 36.00	38.00 18.50 21.00	1.23 2.45

•

APPENDIX 4.2 ii a

INFANT FEEDING DATA

Question 1	(To breast feeding mothers only)
	How many breast feeds did you give in the
	last 24 hours?

- Question 2 (To all mothers) How many feeds of formula milk did you give in the last 24 hours?
- Question 3 (i) What brand of formula milk are you using?
 - (ii) Have you used any other brands of formula milk since my last visit?
- Question 4 How many feeds of juice or water have you given the baby in the last 24 hours?
- Question 5 How are you sterilising the water you are giving to the baby?
- Question 6 How many feeds of solids have you given in the last 24 hours?
- Question 7 (For the baby after 6 months of age) How many meals did your baby have in the last 24 hours?
- Question 8 Who gave the feeds to the baby in the last 24 hours?
- Question 9 Have you introduced formula milk for the first time since my last visit?

If "yes", when did you start this?

Question 10 Have you introduced cow's milk for the first time since my last visit?

If "yes", when did you start this?

Question 11 Have you introduced solid food since my last visit?

If "yes", when did you start this?

Question 12 (For breast feeding mothers only) Have you stopped breast feeding <u>completely</u> since my last visit?

If "yes", when was the last breast feed given?

Question 13 (For breast feeding mothers who have stopped breast feeding)

Why did you stop breast feeding?

INFANT GROWTH

- Question 14 Please record weight of infant, if recorded since last visit and state where the baby was weighed.
- Question 15 Please record OFC, if measured since last visit and state where the measurement was made.

INFANT SUPERVISION

(i) Has your baby been cared for in a day Question 16a nursery? (ii) If "yes"; Has the day nursery been full time or part time? Question 16b Is baby being cared for by anyone apart from mother? If "yes", record who is the carer. Have any of the other children in the house Question 17 been ill since my last visit? If "yes", please record: (i) Age of child (ii) Nature of illness (iii) Dates of the start and finish of the illness. Question 18 Have you been ill yourself since my last visit? If "yes", please record: (i) Nature of illness (ii) Dates of the start and finish of the illness.

ILLNESS IN BABY

GASTROINTESTINAL

Question	19	(i)	Has your baby been vomiting since my last visit?
			If "no", record as negative.
			<pre>If "yes", ask following supplementary questions:-</pre>
		(ii)	Is the vomiting more than a mouthful at at time?
		(iii)	Is this a change from his usual pattern?
		If "ye	es" to both supplementary questions,

record the dates the vomiting started and stopped.

THERAPEUTIC ENQUIRY

- (i) Did you use any treatment by yourself?
- (ii) Did you consult your General Practitioner?
- (iii) Did your General Practitioner give any treatment?
 - (iv) Was your baby admitted to hospital?

If "yes", record admission dates.

Question 20 (i) Has your baby had diarrhoea since my last visit?

If "no", record as negative.

If "yes", ask following supplementary
questions:-

- (ii) How many dirty nappies did the baby have each day?
- (iii) Was this a change from the usual pattern?
 - (iv) What consistency were the stools?
 - (v) What colour were the stools?
 - (vi) Were the stools offensive?

If the diarrhoea was a change from normal bowel habit and if the stools were watery, of abnormal colour or offensive, record the dates the diarrhoea started and stopped.

If diarrhoea present ask <u>THERAPEUTIC ENQUIRY</u> as per Question 19 above.

Question 21 (i) Has your baby had colic since my last visit?

If "no", record as negative.

If "yes", ask following supplementary
questions:-

(ii) What does baby do when it has colic?

Use following probing questions:-

- (iii) Does baby scream during an attack?
 - (iv) Does baby draw up his/her legs during an attack.

- (v) At what time of day does the 'colic'
 occur?
- (vi) Is the baby well between attacks?

If baby has intermittent attacks when he/she screams and draws up legs and is well between attacks, diagnose as colic and record the dates the colic started and stopped.

If colic present ask <u>THERAPEUTIC ENQUIRY</u> as per Question 19 above.

RESPIRATORY

- Question 22 (a), (b) and (c)
 - (i) Has your baby had any colds since my last visit?

If "no", record as negative.

If "yes", ask following supplementary questions.

(ii) Did baby have a runny nose?

If "yes", record as coryza.

(iii) Did baby have a persistent cough?(iv) Did baby have a wheeze?

If "yes", record dates respiratory symptoms started and finished.

If respiratory infection present, ask

```
OTITIS
```

- Question 23 (a), (b) and (c)
 - (i) Has your baby had sore ear since my last visit?

If "no", record as negative.

If "yes", ask the following
supplementary questions:-

- (ii) Did your own doctor examine the ear?
- (iii) Was the soreness on the outside or the inside of the ear?

If "outside", record as otitis externa.

If "inside", record as otitis interna if confirmed by medical examination.

(iv) Has your baby had a discharging ear since my last visit?

If ear infection present, ask THERAPEUTIC ENQUIRY as per Question 19 above.

Question 24 (a), (b)
(i) Has your baby had a sore bottom since
my last visit?
If "no", record as negative.
If "yes", ask the following
supplementary questions:(ii) Was the red area confined to the skin
covered by the nappy?
If "yes", record as "nappy rash".
(iii) Has your baby had any other skin
rash?
If "yes", ascertain from examination

or from medical attendants if rash was typical of eczema. If eczema present, record as positive. If skin problem present, ask THERAPEUTIC ENQUIRY as per Question 19 above.

OTHER INFECTIONS

Question 25 (a), (b), (c) and (d)

- (i) Has your baby had a mouth infection since my last visit?
- (ii) Has your baby had a sticky eye since my last visit?

(iii) Has your baby had any other infections since my last visit?

If "no" to above questions, record as negative.

If "yes", to any above questions, record diagnosis made by doctor, if G.P. consulted.

If any of above infections present, ask THERAPEUTIC ENQUIRY as per Question 19 above.

OTHER ILLNESSES

- Question 26
- (i) Has your baby had any other illness since my last visit?
- (ii) Have you consulted your G.P. for any other reason since my last visit?
- (iii) Has your baby been in hospital or seen at the hospital for any reason since my last visit?

If "yes" to any of the above, please specify reasons.

	EXEDITE DATE . During 24 hours and a	to sticit	DATE OF LITET
	PEDUNG DATA : During 24 hours prior	W VISIC	DATE OF VISIT :
1.	Breast feeds (number)		
2.	Formula milk feeds (number)		
3.	Brands of formula milk	(i)	·····
		(ii)	
4.	Juice/water feeds		
5.	Method of sterilising water		
6.	Solids (number)		
7.	Number of meals per day		
8.	Feeds given by : (a) Mother (number)		
	(b) Ethor (nimber)		
	(b) rauker (number)	11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	
	(c) Other relative (number)	
	(d) Friends/other (number)	
	The following three questions only neer ONCE (if they apply since last visit).	d to be answered	
9.	Date of FIRST formula milk feed		
10.	Date of FIRST cow's milk feed		
11.	Date of FIRST solid food		
12.	Date of LAST breast feed		
13.	Reason(s) for stopping breast feeding		
	INFANT GROWIN (Every three months)		
14.	Weight Kg Date	Place of weighing	
	OFC on Date	Place of measurement	
	INFANT CARE	If ves · part-	
16.	Child in day nursery YES/NO	time/full time	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
	Child cared for by Minder/Relative,	Other	
	ILLNESS IN CHILDREN IN HOUSE (Since	last visit)	
17 (a)	Child's age(b)	Child's age	
	Nature of illness	Nature of illness	
	Started (date)	Started (date)	
	Finished (date)	Finished (date)	
	ILLNESS IN MOTHER (Since last visit)	
18.	Nature of illness		
	Started (date)		

		Date	Date	Tab	Colf	CD	CD gain	llom	•
		Started	Finished	B.	Medic.	Consult.	Medicine	Admiss.	Comments
GASTRO	INTESTINAL								
19.	Vamiting								
20.	Diarrhoea						(
21.	Colic								
RESPIR	ATORY								
22. (a)	Coryza								
(b)	Persistent Cough								
(C)	Wheeze				1.1.1				
OTITIS				±		1			
23. (a)	Otitis Externa								
(b)	Otitis Interna								
(c)	Discharg- ing ear								
SKIN P	ROBLEMS			1					1.
24.(a)	Nappy rash								
(b)	Eczema								
OTHER	INFECTIONS								
25. (a)	Mouth Infection								
(b)	Eye Infection								-
(c)	Other Infection								
	(Please specify)								
OTHER	ILLNESSES			L					
26.(a)						Ŀ			
(b)									
(c)									
									r . No.

	i Úi	KM C	REF.NO. :		GROUP :	POST CC	DE :			DD
_			ANTENATAL DAT.	<u>.</u>						· · ·
	1.	(#)	Nother's age	at booking		• • • • • • • • •		1.	(4)	
		(b)	Parity (live	births only)					(b)	
		(c)	Marital state	 Married Cohab. 	<pre>(2) Single (4) Other</pre>	(9) N/K		(c)	
		(d)	Occupation -	Present or premarital					(d)	
		(e)	Age left school						(e)	
		(1)	Height (cms)		••••				(1)	
		(g)	Smoking (numbe	er/day) (00 = Nil;	99 = N/K)	•••••			(g)	
							. 84			
	2.	(a)	Father's age					2.	(a)	
		(b)	Occupation						(b)	
		(c)	Employed	(1) Yes	(2) No	(9) N/K		(c)	
		(d)	Smoking (numbe	r/day (00 = Nil;	99 = N/K				(d)	
		(4)	DROKING (NUMOC	.,,			11		(-)	
	3	(a)	Existing mater	(1) Yes	(2) No			3.	(a)	
		(b)	Allergie	(1) Yes	(2) No				(b)	
		(0)	Allergie	(1) 163	(2) 10				(0)	
		(c)	Psychiatric	(1) Yes	(2) NO				(c)	
		(d)	Other	(1) Yes	(2) No				(d)	
4	Γ.		A & E attendan	ce with S.I.I./O.D./S.I.	(1) Yes	(2)) NO	4.		
			Pregnancy	(1) Planned	(2) Unplanned	(9)	NA	5.		
~			T-indel		(-)			6		
C			ibitimi reacti	(1) Pleased	(2) Displease	d		0.		
				(3) Ambivalent	(4) Upset	(9)) N/K			
7			Attended Mothe	rcraft :				7.		
			Obstatais book	(1) Yes	(2) No	(9)) N/K	8		
0			UDSTETTIC DOOK	ing citore visie (weeks	Ecstation,			0,		
9			Default of A/N	(1) Yes	(2) 80			у.		
1	0.		Number of A/N	admissions				10.		-
			LABOUR AND DEL	IVERY						
1			Onset	 (1) Spontaneous (3) Elective C/S 	(2) Induced			1.		
2	•	1	Node	 (1) SYD (3) LUSCS (5) Other 	(2) Forceps(4) Breech			2.		

Appendix 4.2 ii d. Biological, socio-economic and environmental data sheet

FORM C

	MOTHER IN PUERPERIUM		
	COMPLICATIONS		
1. (a)	Infection	(1) YES (2) NO	1. (a)
(b)	Psychological	(1) YES (2) NO	(b)
(c)	Social problems	(1) YES (2) NO	(c)
	FEEDING		
2.	Initial feeding method:	(1) Breast(2) Breast and bottle(3) Bottle	2.
3.	Feeding on discharge :	 Breast Breast and bottle Bottle 	3.
€.	Bottle fed babies : type of	formula used in hospital	4. (2)
			(b)
	BABY		
1.	D.O.B.		1.
2.	Sex	(1) Male (2) Female	2.
3.	Birthweight (Kgms)		3.
4.	OFC (cms)		4.
5.	Gestation by assessment		5.
	Apgars (1 min and 5 min)		6.
7.	Admitted to S.C.B.U.	(1) NO (2) Less than 24 hours (3) More than 24 hours	7.
	SPECIFIC PROBLEMS		
8. (a)	Jaundice with phototherapy	(1) YES (2) NO	8. (a)
(b)	Infection : 00 = NO If YES	S - classify as Form B	(b)1. (b)2.
(c)	Other : 00 = NO If YES	S - classify as Form B	(c)
	CARD A DATA		CARD A
1.	Number of rooms in house (inc	cluding kitchen)	1.
2.	(1) = Inside toilet (2) =	Outside only toilet	2.
3.	Number of adults in house (ov	ver 16 years)	3.
4.	Number of children in house ((excluding new baby)	4.
5.	Refrigerator in house	(1) YES (2) NO	5.

Appendix 4.2 ii d.

Biological, socio-economic and environmental data sheet

EFFECT OF POTENTIAL VARIABLES ON WEIGHT GAIN DURING FIRST 2 YEARS OF LIFE APPENDIX 4.2(iii a)

Date File 1. Analysis of variance

		Ą	GE (WEEKS)		
	8	13	26	52	104
Covariates					
Maternal age	0.791	0.848	0.710	0.739	0.496
Birth weight	<0.001	<0.0001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001
Gestation	0.239	0.027	0.015	0.017	0.009
Paternal age	0.939	0.773	0.309	0.205	0.739
Maternal height	<0.001	0.001	0.002	<0.001	0.003
GI infection	I	0.081	0.555	0.476	0.771
Respiratory infection	ı	0.391	0.747	0.639	0.904
		Signific	ance of F		

APPENDIX 4.2(iii a) CONTINUED

Date File 2. Analysis of variance

			AGE (WEEKS)		
	8	13	26	52	104
Main effects					
Parity	0.779	0.329	0.086	0.089	0.907
Maternal smoking	0.889	0.901	0.442	0.464	0.235
Paternal smoking	0.829	0.860	0.824	0.882	0.262
Parental social class	0.229	0.533	0.595	0.115	0.674
Marital status	0.829	0.569	0.565	0.182	0.444
Sex of infant	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	<0.001	0.018
Milk feed	<0.001	0.014	0.761	0.989	0.897
Solid feeding	<0.01	<0.001	0.001	0.078	0.753
		Signif	icance of F		

EFFECT ON WEIGHT (g) OF TIMING OF INTRODUCTION OF SOLIDS APPENDIX 4.2(iii b)

			AGE (WEEKS)		
	8	13	26	52	104
Grand mean (g)	4035	5897	7585	9825	12582
Solid feeding groups					
1	+110(75)	+202(153)	+286(196)	+315(182)	+186(-26)
2	+47(52)	+76(75)	+131(107)	+147(77)	+76(61)
ſ	-77(-74)	-129(-118)	-214(-166)	-245(-132)	-127(-62)
Numbers in parenth birth weight and ty	esis are weight Ype of milk feec	changes adjust	ed for materna	l height, sex c	of infant,

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLID	IS (WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<7	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
0-13	19(46.3,40.5)	72(31.7,30.5)	56(29.6,32.4)	1.51
14-26	18(43.9,40.7)	116(51.1,51.2)	69(36.5,37.1)	6.4
27-39	23(56.1,56.8))	111(48.9,48.5)	78(41.3,41.6))	3.0
40-52	21(51.2,49.1)	114(50.2,48.7)	84(44.4,46.7)	0.1
53-104	33(82.5,82.0)	194(87.0,86.0)	149(77.6,78.9)	2.7
				Pro

Numbers (percentages and adjusted percentages) of infants followed up for 104 weeks with respiratory illness according to age of introduction of solids Appendix 4.2 iii c

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLIDS	(WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<7	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
0-13	6(14.6,12.4)	18(7.9,6.9)	19(10.1,11.8)	3 . 2
14-26	8(19.5,18.0)	45(19.8,18.9)	20(10.6,12.0)	2.89
27-39	12(29.3,29.3)	42(18.5,17.3)	21(11.1,12.6)	5.37
40-52	4(9.8,8.2)	50(22.0,20.6)	29(15.3,17.4)	4 . 2
53-104	18(45.0,43.2)	102(45.7,44.4)	68(35.4,36.8)	2.1
Appendix 4.2	iii d Numbers (percentages and adjusted	percentages) o	f infants followed up

for 104 weeks with persistent cough according to age of introduction of solids

	AGE OF	INTRODUCTION OF SOLID:	S (WEEKS)	
AGE OF BABY (WEEKS)	<7	8-12	>12	X ² for adjusted percentages
0-13	0(0,0)	11(4.8,4.4)	6(3.2,3.7)	4.4
14-26	1(2.4,1.9)	12(5.3,4.4)	7(3.7,4.9)	0.91
27-39	0(0,0)	13(5.5,5.7)	9(4.8,4.8)	3 * 9
40-52	0(0,0)0	13(5.7,6.5)	8(4.2,3.4)	5.37
53-104	2(5.0,5.4)	36(16.1,17.0)	18(9.4,8.3)	7.5
Appendix 4.2	iii e Numbers (F	percentages and adjust	ed percentages)	of those infants

followed up for 104 weeks with eczema according to age of introduction of solids

GLASGOW UNIVERSITY LIBRARY